Contents

| Space Ionat | e-based | Gravitational Wave Observatories | 3 |
|----------------|---|---|----|
| 1 1 | Introduction | | 2 |
| 1.1 | | | - |
| 1.2 | 121 | Interferometry | - |
| | 1.2.1 1.2.2 | Gravitational reference sensor | 13 |
| 1.3 | Data A | nalysis of Space-based Observatories | 10 |
| | 1 3 1 Time-Delay Interferometry | | 17 |
| | 1.3.1 | Instrument response to GW and sensitivity | 2/ |
| | 1.3.2 | Dete analysis strategies | 24 |
| | 1.3.5 | Instrumental artafacta and poise abarratorization | 2. |
| | 1.3.4 | Crewed as among design | 21 |
| | CW Server for Server have 1 Observer to inc | | 34 |
| 1.4 | Gw Sources for Space-based Observatories | | 33 |
| | 1.4.1 | Compact binaries in the Milky Way | 36 |
| | 1.4.2 | Stellar-origin black hole binaries | 38 |
| | 1.4.3 | Massive black hole binaries | 39 |
| | 1.4.4 | Extreme-mass-ratio inspirals | 41 |
| | 1.4.5 | Cosmological sources | 45 |
| 1.5 | Science with Space-based Observatories | | 46 |
| | 1.5.1 | Astrophysics | 46 |
| | 1.5.2 | Cosmology | 49 |
| | 1.5.3 | Fundamental Physics | 51 |
| 1.6 | Prospects for Space-based Observatories | | 55 |
| 1.7 | Cross-References to other chapters in the Handbook of | | |
| | Gravitational Wave Astronomy | | 58 |
| Refer | ences | ۰ | 59 |

Jonathan Gair*, Martin Hewitson, Antoine Petiteau, Guido Mueller

Key words: space-based interferometers; time delay interferometry; low frequency gravitational waves; massive black holes; extreme-mass-ratio inspirals; galactic compact binaries

1.1 Introduction

As described in the chapter *Terrestrial Laser Interferometers* of this volume, groundbased detectors will soon be sensitive to gravitational waves (GWs) above a few Hertz generated for example by systems involving a few thousand solar mass black holes just before merger. To listen to systems which involve even larger black holes such as the black holes in the centers of most galaxies, or to study systems well before merger, like the hundreds of thousands of compact binary systems in our own Milky way, we need observatories which are sensitive between roughly 10μ Hz and

Guido Mueller

Antoine Petiteau

Jonathan R. Gair

Max Planck Institute for Gravitational Physics (Albert Einstein Institute), Am Mühlenberg 1, Potsdam-Golm 14476, Germany, e-mail: jgair@aei.mpg.de

Martin Hewitson

Institut für Gravitationsphysik der Leibniz Universität Hannover, Callinstr. 38, 30167 Hannover, Germany, e-mail: hewitson@aei.mpg.de

Department of Physics, 2001 Museum Rd, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611, USA, e-mail: guml@ufl.edu

AstroParticule et Cosmologie (APC), Université de Paris/CNRS, 75013 Paris, France, e-mail: antoine.petiteau@cea.fr

^{*} corresponding author

100 mHz. This is the frequency range which is targeted by space-based observatories such as the Laser Interferometer Space Antenna or LISA.

LISA will be the first space-based gravitational-wave observatory with a launch scheduled for the first half of the 2030s. It is a European Space Agency (ESA) led space mission with major contributions expected from NASA and several other national space agencies. While LISA is also based on measuring minute changes in the separation of free falling test masses, its low frequency sensitivity, the necessary long arm lengths and the space environment require approaches which differ significantly from the techniques used in ground-based observatories. The LISA concept is essentially defined by five key features:

- 1. The observatory consists of a triangular constellation of three spacecraft in passive, heliocentric orbits.
- 2. Free-falling test masses inside each spacecraft serve as inertial reference points defining the ends of each measurement arm.
- 3. Each measurement arm is millions of kilometers long.
- 4. The primary measurement is continuous, one-way, interferometric, laser-ranging between the test masses or spacecraft.
- Laser frequency noise is cancelled by combining time-delayed laser phases from different arms in post-processing (Time Delay Interferometry).

In the first half of this document we will shed some light on each of these features and discuss their impact on the mission design and operation. The discussion on the first four points will have to be rather superficial; the devil is in the details and those are covered in the references given throughout this chapter. The last point, Time Delay Interferometry (TDI), is discussed in more detail starting with section 1.3.1. The TDI algorithm produces the data streams which are then used in the data analysis; the basics of which is described in section 1.3.3. Section 1.4 gives an overview of the gravitational wave sources of LISA followed by a discussion in section 1.5 of the science questions LISA will try to answer. Section 1.6 discusses prospects for proposed future missions beyond LISA which are loosely based on LISA technologies and concepts. Note that during the last two decades concepts based on atom interferometry have been developed and are discussed in a different chapter in this book. However, we will start with a brief historic review.

Following initial discussions within a small NASA working group [226], the first space-based gravitational wave observatory, LAGOS, was proposed to NASA in the early 1980's by Peter Bender and colleagues [100, 110]. In the early 1990's, two similar missions called LISA [96] and Sagittarius [139] (which later evolved into Omega [140]) were proposed to ESA. The LISA mission was selected as an M3 mission and later upgraded to a cornerstone mission in ESA's Horizon 2000 program. In 1997, NASA and ESA joined forces and the by now almost classical LISA design emerged [97]. It is based on three spacecraft forming a nearly equilateral triangle initially five million kilometer arm lengths. This constellation will be placed into a heliocentric orbit trailing or leading Earth by about 20 deg. Each spacecraft will host two free falling test masses in the form of 4 cm gold platinum cubes. These test

masses will form the end points of three interferometer arms. Gravitational waves will change their distances and laser interferometers will measure these changes. The shot noise limit defines LISA's sensitivity above a few mHz while acceleration noise will limit LISA below a few mHz.

In the late '90s, the required acceleration noise was several orders of magnitude better than the performance demonstrated by any prior space mission, calling for a technology demonstration before moving forward with LISA proper. This LISA Pathfinder (LPF) mission was finally launched in 2015 and its results exceeded all expectations [26]. Also in 2015, the two LIGO observatories discovered the first of many gravitational waves pushing the field to the forefront of science [5]. In the mean time, programmatic constraints led to a restructuring of the original ESA and NASA partnership and a resizing of LISA to 2.5 million kilometer arm length [20]. This new LISA mission will be the first space-based gravitational wave mission with a launch scheduled for the first half of the 2030's.

Starting around 2000, first proposals for beyond LISA space-based gravitational wave observatories such as ALIA [49, 48], BBO [95], and DECIGO [150] were published. These missions were typically optimized to bridge the gap between LISA and ground-based observatories and often targeted the expected primordial gravitational wave background radiation. Later, several missions were proposed as an alternative to LISA which at that time struggled to take the necessary programmatic hurdles. These missions often promised lower cost using for example geocentric orbits [176, 216, 90] or tried to provide back up options in case LPF would fail and the acceleration noise requirements of LISA could not be met. While most of these missions used the same approach of laser interferometry between free falling macroscopic test masses some were based on atom interferometry. Follow up studies first at NASA [133] and then at ESA [108] suggested that the original LISA approach was still the most promising one and the latest discussion ended with the success of LPF and the detections made by advanced LIGO. The following sections will focus on LISA as it will be the first of its kind and will set the bar for future missions. However, we note that China is formulating plans for a space-based gravitational wave detector that could be launched on a similar timescale to LISA. The leading proposals are TianQin [167] and Taiji [145]. These would both operate on the same principles to LISA, and Taiji would also be in heliocentric orbit, with comparable sensitivity to LISA. TianQin would be in Earth-orbit and have somewhat shorter armlengths, leading to slightly lower sensitivity, and an optimal frequency range somewhat higher than LISA or Taiji. We will not discuss these further in this article, but the principles on which they would operate and the astrophysical sources they would observe are the same as those we will describe with reference to LISA.

1.2 LISA

Ground-based observatories reach their astonishing sensitivity by maintaining very tight control of the positions of or distances between their mirrors at frequencies be-

low their measurement band. They use (near-) equal arm Michelson interferometers to be insensitive to laser frequency noise. Applying this design principle to space would require station-keeping or continuously actuating on the spacecraft and the test masses. The applied forces would have to be calibrated beyond our current capabilities and have to have virtually zero amplitude in the frequency range of interest to not limit the sensitivity of the observatory. Such a mission would also consume significant amounts of fuel driving up the cost. Instead, LISA uses a technology that is known as drag-free inertial sensing.

A drag-free spacecraft encloses a free-falling test mass that is shielded from external forces, like drag. The position and often also the orientation of the test mass within the spacecraft is sensed, and the spacecraft propulsion system is commanded to keep the spacecraft centered on the test mass in one or more degrees of freedom thereby forcing the spacecraft to follow a more perfect inertial orbit. In all other degrees of freedom, forces and torques are applied to the test mass to follow the spacecraft. The perfection of the inertial orbit or of the free falling test mass is determined by the residual forces on the test mass and the limitations of the control or actuation system. After minimizing those, the test mass can then serve as the inertial reference point needed in a gravitational wave observatory, benefiting from its fixed position within the spacecraft and shielded from most external forces.

LISA will use three spacecraft in a (near-) equilateral triangular configuration. Maintaining this configuration over the decade long lifetime of the mission; ideally with little to no station-keeping maneuvers, requires very specific orbits. These orbits should minimize the relative velocities to minimize Doppler shifts of the frequencies of the exchanged laser beams. They should also minimize changes in the opening angles to reduce the requirements on each spacecraft internal pointing system which tracks each of the far spacecraft. Furthermore, the orbits need to be within range of the deep space network to communicate with the constellation from ground. Other constraints include the need that all orbital frequencies should ideally be well below the LISA measurement band and that the thermal environment should be extremely stable as temperature changes will be a driving noise source in low frequency gravitational-wave observatories; flying through Earth's shadow on a regular basis should be avoided if possible.

In the late 1970's, the orbit geometry shown at the top of figure 1.1 was being considered. It was based on a main spacecraft and two sub-spacecraft flying in nearly circular orbits around the sun with roughly one million km separations [100]. In order to keep the two arm lengths nearly constant, frequent active corrections to the orbits would be needed. However, in 1981, a new set of orbits was presented at a NIST meeting which avoided the station-keeping maneuver but allowed for larger differential arm lengths and opening angle changes. In this design the main spacecraft was placed in an Earth trailing orbit and the other two were placed in orbits that let them rotate around the main spacecraft [110]. This constellation then evolved into the baseline LISA orbits [223, 117] shown in the bottom part of figure 1.1. In this configuration, the three spacecraft form an equilateral triangle of length *L*. The center of the constellation stays in the plane of the ecliptic trailing or leading Earth. The orbital planes of each spacecraft are fine tuned to have an eccentricity



Fig. 1.1 The top graph shows a concept of the initially proposed orbits as published in [100]; two satellites S2 and S3 were placed in one orbit, S3 trailing S2 by $\sqrt{2L}$ while S1 is placed in an orbit $L/\sqrt{2}$ above the ecliptic which would require regular station keeping maneuvers. The LISA orbits circumvent this issue by using three identical orbital planes with an ellipticity of $\varepsilon = 2L/\sqrt{3}a.u.$ offset by 120° from each other. Each plane is inclined by an angle $t = \sqrt{3\varepsilon} t$ o minimize the relative motion between the spacecraft. Credit for the lower part of the figure: JPL/NASA.

of $\varepsilon = 2L/\sqrt{3}a.u.$ and are inclined by an angle $\iota = \sqrt{3}\varepsilon$ with respect to the ecliptic. Finally, rotating these three planes by 120° with respect to each other around the normal on the ecliptic centered on the sun forms a near equilateral triangle with residual length changes on the order of $2\varepsilon^2 \cdot a.u.$ [117].

These baseline orbits are the starting point for the final optimization which takes into account non-centrosymmetric gravitational forces from the planets that over time will pull the constellation apart [163]. During LISA's 10+ years in orbit, each arm will change by about ± 35000 km twice a year resulting in changes of the opening angles by less than 1 deg. Still, the changes in the opening angles are much larger than the divergence angle of the laser beams and require constant realignment of the constellation. The initial Sagittarius and Omega proposals solved that issue by using two spacecraft in each corner of the triangle. Each of these two spacecraft would be aligned to direct the main laser beam to one of the far spacecraft while a secondary laser link with actuated mirrors connected the two spacecraft in each corner and allowed to compare the laser phases in each interferometer arm. This comparison allows to form what is sometimes called an artificial beam splitter. This beam splitter does not physically combine the interfering laser beams from the two long interferometer arms, but, as described in section 1.3.1, it combines the measured phase evolutions of different laser beat signals using the TDI algorithm to form the interferometer signal.

In contrast to this, LISA is using two movable optical sub-assemblies (MOSAs) comprised of a test mass, an optical bench, and a telescope in each spacecraft. As shown in figure 1.2, the opening angle between the two MOSAs can be changed with a mechanism to independently track the far spacecraft. In LISA, the phase comparison needed to form the artificial beam splitter is realized using an optical fiber link between the two MOSAs [146]. The range of the MOSA actuation system of order one degree will allow to operate LISA for more than a decade. However, without any major station keeping maneuvers, latest after about 20 years, the distances, relative velocities and opening angles will likely be too large to continue operation and LISA will cease to exist as an instrument.



Fig. 1.2 In LISA, each spacecraft hosts two movable optical sub-assemblies (MOSA) each containing a test mass, an optical bench and a telescope. The opening angle between the two MOSAs will change over the course of the year to track the far spacecraft.

In any case, the need for alignment of the constellation but also for alignment of the test masses within the spacecraft means that LISA can not use truly free falling test masses but will have to actuate on the test masses even during science operation in five of the six degrees of freedom while the test mass is only in free-fall along the interferometer arm axis. This approach also allows to use two test masses, one in each MOSA, and to steer the spacecraft simultaneously around both of them. It has the additional advantage that it adds redundancy to LISA as the failure of a single test mass would still allow the operation of one full interferometer (2 of the 3 arms).

1.2.1 Interferometry

The interferometric measurement from test mass to test mass is typically broken up into three semi-independent interferometric measurements. The local test mass interferometer in each MOSA measures changes in the position and orientation of each test mass (TM) with respect to its adjacent optical bench (OB). The third interferometer measures changes in the distance between the two widely separated OBs. This interferometer is typically called the science or inter-spacecraft interferometer. A reference signal on each OB on each spacecraft measures the beat signal between both local lasers. Linear combinations of the data streams from all these signals are needed to measure differential changes in the TM to TM distances. This is described in detail in 1.3.1.

The relative velocities of several meters per second between the spacecraft shifts the frequencies of the exchanged laser beams by several MHz, making it impossible to maintain a dark fringe and to use read-out technologies developed for groundbased observatories. Instead, LISA measures the phase evolution of laser beat signals to extract the gravitational wave signal. This method is called heterodyne interferometry. One laser field acts as a local oscillator which provides the reference phase against which the phase evolution of the signal field will be measured:

$$S_{1} = \left| E_{\text{LO}} e^{i(\omega_{1}t + \phi_{1})} + E_{\text{S}} e^{i(\omega_{2}t + \phi_{2})} \right|^{2} = E_{\text{LO}}^{2} + E_{\text{S}}^{2} + 2E_{LO}E_{\text{S}}\cos\left(\Omega_{12}t + \phi_{1} - \phi_{2}\right).$$
(1.1)

The first two terms are proportional to the power in both laser fields while the third term oscillates at the difference frequency Ω_{12} . A phasemeter measures the phase of this signal, which depends on the phase variations ϕ_i (i = 1, 2) of each laser field. These phase variations depend on the laser frequency noise ($\delta v_i(t) = \delta \omega_i(t)/2\pi$) and all optical pathlength changes δL_i between some reference planes, typically realized by a few beam splitters, and the photodetector:

$$\phi_i^0 + \delta \phi_i(t) = \frac{\omega_i}{c} L_i + \frac{1}{c} \left(\delta \omega_i(t) L_i - \omega_i \delta L_i(t) \right).$$
(1.2)

The gravitational wave signal is contained in one of the length changes, here δL_2 , while all other fluctuations either have to be minimized or measured elsewhere and then subtracted from this signal.

The fundamental limit of interferometric phase measurements is the intrinsic phase uncertainty or noise of a coherent field which is, in this context, also known as shot noise:

$$\delta \tilde{\phi}_{SN} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \delta \tilde{l}_{SN} = \frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{hv}{P_{\rm coh}}},$$
(1.3)

where *n* is the photon rate of the coherent field. The $\sim \text{in } \delta \tilde{l}$ indicates that this is the Fourier transform of the time series normalized to a one second measurement time. This is also known as the linear spectral density measured in units m/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ which is

the square root of the power spectral density $S_{\delta} = (\delta \tilde{l})^2$ which will show up in later sections again.

In any case, the larger the amplitude the lower the phase uncertainty of the coherent field. The resulting fundamental shot noise limit $\delta \tilde{l}_{SN}$ of any interferometer depends on the wavelength of the laser field λ or its frequency v and the power $P_{\rm coh}$ of the coherent field. The inter-spacecraft interferometer measures the weak received field against a much stronger local oscillator field such that the shot noise limit in LISA is determined by the amplitude of the received field only. Similarly, the amplitudes in the test mass interferometer and in the reference signal are significantly higher such that this shot noise limit is only relevant for the inter-spacecraft interferometer.



Fig. 1.3 Due to diffraction, the laser beam will have grown in radius ω_{rec} by several orders of magnitude before it reaches the far spacecraft. The final size depends on the initial Gaussian beam radius $\omega_0 = 0.446D$ where D is the diameter of the telescope, λ is the wavelength and L is the distance. Shown here are the current LISA design parameters ($\lambda = 1064$ nm).

The received power on the far spacecraft is maximized for a Gaussian beam when the radius of the injected fundamental Gaussian mode has a width of $\omega = 0.446D$ overfilling the exit aperture of the transmitting telescope. In that case, the maximum received power on the far spacecraft depends on the transmitted power P_T , the distance L between the spacecraft, and the diameter D of the transmitting and receiving diffraction limited telescopes:

$$P_{rec} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{D^4}{\lambda^2 L^2} P_T \,. \tag{1.4}$$

The scaling with L^{-2} has the interesting effect that the shot noise limit of the strain sensitivity $h = \delta l/L$ for $\lambda_{GW} > L/2$ is independent of the spacecraft distance. In this regime longer arms increase the displacement $\delta l = hL$, but as the shot noise limit scales with $P^{-1/2} \propto L$, the strain sensitivity does not change. When λ_{GW} becomes comparable to, or shorter than, the arm length, the effect of the gravitational wave averages away following a sinc-function with zeros at $\lambda_{GW} = L/2n$ ($n \in \mathbb{N}$) for optimally aligned observatories. Averaging over all angles will wash out these zeros and give rise to the 'wiggles' in LISA's sensitivity curve at higher frequencies.

As shown in figure 1.3, the current LISA design uses a telescope diameter of D = 0.3 m to send a $P_T = 2 \text{ W}$ laser beam of wavelength $\lambda = 1064 \text{ nm}$ to an iden-

10

tical telescope on the receiving spacecraft. If we assume an efficiency of $\eta \approx 0.5$ which takes unavoidable optical losses, quantum efficiencies, contrast defects and also power lost to additional frequency components modulated onto the field in the final beat signal into account, the effective received power in the relevant frequency component is then:

$$P_{rec} \approx 570 \,\mathrm{pW} \left[\frac{\eta}{0.5}\right] \left[\frac{D}{0.3 \,\mathrm{m}}\right]^4 \left[\frac{2.5 \,\mathrm{Gm}}{L}\right]^2 \left[\frac{1064 \,\mathrm{nm}}{\lambda}\right]^2 \left[\frac{P_T}{2 \,\mathrm{W}}\right] \tag{1.5}$$

leading to a shot noise limit of $\delta \tilde{l}_{SN}(f) \approx 3 \text{ pm}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$.

Shot noise is neither the only limitation of the interferometric measurement system nor would the system even remotely be able to detect gravitational waves without subtracting several other contributions to the beat signals. Laser frequency noise was already added in equation 1.2. The historical Michelson interferometer used equal arm lengths $(L_1 = L_2)$ and a single thermal light source $(\delta \omega_1 = \delta \omega_2)$ to become insensitive to frequency variations. Ground-based observatories use near equal arm lengths and a single laser whose frequency is stabilized to the average or common arm of the interferometer. As discussed before, in LISA, the arm lengths are constantly changing and will reach macroscopic length differences of up to 35 000 km which would place unrealistic demands on the levels of laser frequency noise needed.

Still, LISA will use state of the art laser frequency stabilization systems and is expected to reach a laser frequency noise floor of below $30 \text{ Hz}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ above 2 mHz, increasing with f^{-2} below 2 mHz. This is about 8 orders of magnitude to high for a direct strain measurement. Instead, LISA will eliminate laser frequency noise in post-processing using Time Delay Interferometry (TDI) to form a quasi-equal arm Michelson interferometer signal based on the knowledge of the light travel time between the spacecraft [215, 103, 99, 180, 217]. Laser ranging will be used to measure the distances between the spacecraft with sub-meter accuracy which then leads to an apparent length noise caused by laser frequency noise of

$$\delta \tilde{l} < \frac{\delta \tilde{v} \cdot \Delta L_{\text{eff}}}{v} = 0.1 \frac{\text{pm}}{\sqrt{\text{Hz}}} \left[\frac{\delta v}{30 \,\text{Hz}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}} \right] \left[\frac{\Delta L_{\text{eff}}}{1 \,\text{m}} \right].$$
(1.6)

still using the simple Michelson interferometer geometry as a baseline.

The phase measurement devices or phasemeter have to measure the phase evolution of the laser beat signals with respect to an onboard ultra-stable oscillator (USO) [205, 126]. Fundamentally, this can be described by a multiplication of two signals with identical frequencies and then averaging the result to eliminate the second harmonic:

$$\langle \cos(\Omega_{12}t + \phi_1 - \phi_2)\cos(\Omega_{12}t + \phi_{\rm PM}) \rangle_t = \frac{1}{2}\cos(\phi_1 - \phi_2 - \phi_{\rm PM}).$$
 (1.7)

The second factor is generated from the USO, and the phasemeter itself is designed to track the frequency Ω_{12} of the incoming signal. This multiplication measures the

phase evolution of the beat signal in fractions of clock cycles of the USO. Any differential noise between the USOs on the three spacecraft would result in additional noise in the interferometer read out:

$$\delta\phi_{\rm PM} = \frac{f_{12}}{f_{\rm USO}} \delta\phi_{\rm USO} \tag{1.8}$$

for a given clock phase noise $\delta \phi_{\text{USO}}$ at the clock frequency f_{USO} . Lower beat frequencies f_{12} will reduce the phase noise due to clock noise. However, as mentioned before, the Doppler shifts caused by the orbital motion place a natural lower limit of a few MHz on these beat frequencies. LISA's current frequency plan uses frequencies between 5 and 20 MHz which are about two to three orders of magnitude too high for state of the art USOs to ignore this issue. The solution proposed for LISA is to exchange the clock noise between the spacecraft by modulating the phase of each laser field with a tone that is directly derived from the local USO. This will create additional frequency components in the laser beat signals which allow the extraction of differential clock noise, enabling a clock-noise correction in TDI.



Fig. 1.4 Tilt to length (TTL) coupling is a generic term that is used to describe all noise sources which are associated with dynamic changes in the alignments between different parts of the interferometer. The figure sketches two examples: The wavefront from the far spacecraft will not be perfectly spherical but will have some distortions or phase gradients caused by imperfections in for example the telescope. As the sending spacecraft jitters, this phase gradient will be scanned over the receiving spacecraft. The second effect is associated with a lateral shift Δy between the center of mass of the test mass and a tilt $\Delta \theta$ of the test mass. A change in any of these two parameters will look like a center of mass motion of the test mass in the sensitive direction. These are only two examples of a large range of potential noise sources summed up under TTL.

Another notorious noise source is known as Tilt-To-Length coupling or TTL [85]. Two of the main mechanisms are depicted in figure 1.4. In a drag-free system, the spacecraft is steered around the free-falling test masses using μ N-thrusters. The response time of the thrusters and the large inertia of the spacecraft results in residual lateral and angular motions of each spacecraft of up to a few nm/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ and nrad/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$. This will lead to beam pointing at the far spacecraft such that the 12 km-wide beam is moving by several m/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ across the receiving telescope. Any

gradient in the phase front caused by wavefront errors in the transmitted field will look like apparent length changes. Similarly, any misalignment between the optical axis of the telescope with the test mass will turn the motion of the spacecraft in other degrees of freedom into apparent length changes in the sensitive direction.

These effects are all second order in the sense that they are the product of two misalignments:

$$\Delta x \sim M \Delta y \Delta \theta \tag{1.9}$$

which both have typically *fairly large* rms or quasi-static components and minute dynamic or in-band components. In LISA the quasi-static components are typically in the few μ m or μ rad range while the minute dynamic or in-band components are in the few nm/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ or nrad/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ range. The scaling factor *M* is in the depicted case simply one but can be equal to the magnification of the telescope, in LISA's case 134, when misalignments between the optical bench and the telescope are involved.

In each interferometer the relative angular motion of the two interfering beams is measured using quadrant photo-detectors which measure the phase difference between the fields in each quadrant and extract from that data the angle and the angular motion between the wavefronts [173]. The wavefront sensing system allows the measurement of the relative motion of the spacecraft with respect to the free-falling TM and of the spacecraft with respect to each other. Properly calibrated and delayed in time, this data can then be used to subtract TTL from the data streams as well.

Other noise sources associated with the interferometry include temperature dependent dispersion in the photo receivers and cables [44], timing jitter in the ADCs [126], scattered light [153, 209], and optical pathlength changes on the optical benches and within the telescopes [198]. Most of these noise sources will likely be driven by temperature variations; LISA will likely require temperature fluctuations within each MOSA to be below $10 \mu K/\sqrt{Hz}$ and mK/ \sqrt{Hz} for most of the other systems.

1.2.2 Gravitational reference sensor

As discussed earlier, LISA will use a drag free system in which two test masses inside each spacecraft are ideally in perfect free fall along the optical axis of their respective interferometer arms. LISA will build on the gravitational reference sensors (GRS) that have been flown on the LISA Pathfinder (LPF). The 1.9 kg test masses are 46 mm gold-coated cubes. They are formed from a gold platinum alloy with a composition that has been fine tuned to minimize the magnetic susceptibility and magnetic moments.

Each test mass floats inside a hollow cube known as the GRS housing which protects the test mass from external forces and torques and allows to sense and control its position and orientation within the housing. Such a housing is shown in figure 1.5. All six surfaces contain gold-coated sapphire electrodes; four on the z-

surfaces, three on the y-surfaces, and two on the x-surfaces which are normal to the optical axis. The hole in the shown x-surface allows the laser beam from the optical bench to pass through while the hole in each z-surface is used to grab the test mass during launch and release it with a very small residual velocity below a few tens of μ m/s.



Fig. 1.5 LISA test mass and test mass housing. Each LISA test mass will be a gold-coated goldplatinum 46 mm large cube similar to the LPF test mass shown center-top in this figure. During science mode, the gold-coated cube will float inside the housing. Each surface of the housing holds gold-coated sapphire electrodes which are mostly used to (a) sense the position of the test mass and (b) apply the necessary forces and torques on the test mass. Some of the electrodes are used to inject a 100 kHz signal that is picked up by the sensing electrodes. The laser beam for the local interferometer is injected through the hole in one of the x-faces while the launch lock and release mechanism uses the z-surfaces. This figure uses parts of Figure 4 and 5 in [25].

The two outer electrodes on the other plates are the sensing and actuation electrodes while the middle electrodes inject signals. The various electrodes and the test mass surfaces they face form a set of parallel and serial capacitors where each capacitance can be approximated by a parallel plate capacitor of some area A and distance $d = d_0 + \delta$:

$$C = \varepsilon_0 \frac{A}{d} = \varepsilon_0 \frac{A}{d_0 + \delta} \approx C_0 \left(1 - \frac{\delta}{d_0} \right)$$
(1.10)

where d_0 is the nominal distance; typically a few mm. δ is the displacement from this nominal position and has to be kept below a few tens of μ m to minimize for example tilt to length coupling.

Two identical AC signals are applied to opposing injection electrodes. These will polarize the test mass, pull or push charges from the surfaces normal to the injection axis to all other surfaces and change the electrical potential of the sensing electrodes on the other surfaces. The transmission of the injected signals to the sensing electrodes depend on the capacitances and therefor the location of the test mass within the housing. The differences in amplitudes on opposing electrodes is measured to determine the position and orientation of the test mass in all degrees of freedom. These signals are then used to either actuate the test mass or command the thrusters to steer the spacecraft around the two test masses.

The actuation is based on electro-static forces where an external electric field first polarizes the test mass and then attracts it. This can be described as the attractive force between two capacitor plates:

$$F = -\nabla U = \frac{1}{2}V^2 \frac{\varepsilon_0 A}{d^2} \tag{1.11}$$

where U is the energy of the field and V is the potential difference between the plates. The force does not depend on the polarity of the potential difference but scales with its square and falls off with the distance squared. Applied for LISA, voltages need to be applied to specific electrodes to actuate the test mass in specific degrees of freedom. For example actuating the test mass in the positive x-direction requires the application of a voltage to the two electrodes on the positive x-face of the housing; actuating in the negative x-direction requires a voltage on the negative x-face. Voltages applied to the upper electrode on one of the z-faces and to the lower electrode on the other z-face torques the test mass around the y-axis. The equation also shows that the injection voltages have to be injected with ideally identical amplitudes on the electrodes to not generate a torque in addition to the commanded force or a force instead of the commanded torque on the x-faces.

As in LPF, the capacitance in LISA will be on the order of a few pF per surface resulting in a force of a few hundred pN/V^2 for the few mm gap sizes. Smaller gaps increase the sensing sensitivity and also the applicable forces and torques but many of the noise sources also scale with the inverse gap size. The gap size is one of the most important optimization parameters of the GRS. Using this design, LPF has demonstrated a residual relative acceleration noise between two test masses of [27]

$$\delta \tilde{a}(f) < \frac{2.4 \,\mathrm{fm}}{\mathrm{s}^2 \sqrt{\mathrm{Hz}}} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{0.4 \,\mathrm{mHz}}{f}\right)^2} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{f}{8 \,\mathrm{mHz}}\right)^4} \tag{1.12}$$

which exceeded even the most optimistic expectations and paved the way for LISA; note that the increase in noise above 8 mHz is believed to be a limitation of the interferometric measurement system and is not a real acceleration noise.

This performance is not limited by any uncertainty principle but by a long list of environmental and technical noise sources. The most dominant ones are listed here in no particular order:

• The mass distribution within the moving MOSAs and within the surrounding spacecraft have to be optimized to minimize the gravitational force on and the gravity gradient at the test mass. LISA typically requires the DC acceleration to stay below a few tens nm/s² while the effect of the gradient, or the change



Fig. 1.6 As published in [27] and reproduced in here, the original requirement for the LPF mission was roughly an order of magnitude worse than the LISA requirement and limited to frequencies above 1 mHz. After a year of operation, the relative acceleration noise of LISA Pathfinder surpassed the LISA requirements by about half a decade at all frequencies.

in acceleration per spacecraft motion also called the stiffness, has to be below $10^{-6}/s^2$ for a spacecraft motion of $1 \text{ nm}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ along the sensitive axis.

 Residual gas molecules will hit the test mass surface from both sides and cause a Brownian motion of the test mass:

$$\delta \tilde{a}(f) = \left[\left(1 + \frac{\pi}{8}\right) \frac{A_{TM}}{M_{TM}^2} p \left(\frac{512m_0k_BT}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} \alpha \right]^{1/2} \tag{1.13}$$

where m_0 is the mass of the dominant molecule and p its partial pressure. This well understood noise is amplified by a factor $\alpha \approx 13$ due to correlations caused by gas molecules which bounce back and force between the test mass and the housing. This factor depends on the gap size and larger gaps would reduce the noise [84].

- The actuation in the other five degrees of freedom will always also have a force component in the sensitive direction. This cross-talk can be minimized by optimizing the position and orientation of the test mass within the housing; however, the test mass also has to be aligned with respect to the optical axis defined by the telescope which places tight requirements on the initial overall alignment of all components.
- Charges on the test mass will couple to electric and magnetic fields via the Lorenz force. Early gravitational reference sensors used a thin wire to discharge the test mass. This wire couples the motion of the spacecraft to the test mass and would be orders of magnitude too noisy. LPF and LISA use the photo-electric effect to discharge the test mass. UV-light will be directed to the test mass to move electrons from it to the housing and directed to the housing to move electrons to the test mass.
- Magnetic fields and their gradients also couple to permanent magnetic moments \vec{m}_i of ferromagnetic inclusions, to the magnetic susceptibility χ , and any macro-

scopic currents \vec{J} such as eddy currents induced by time dependent magnetic fields and create a force on the test mass:

$$F_{B,x} = \sum_{i} \vec{m}_{i} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial \vec{B}}{\partial x}\right)_{i} + \frac{\chi}{\mu_{0}} \int_{V} \vec{B} \cdot \frac{\partial \vec{B}}{\partial x} dV + \int_{V} \vec{J} \times \vec{B} dV \qquad (1.14)$$

These are just few of many noise sources which are part of the acceleration noise budget. The work on LPF allowed to gain a very good understanding of these noise sources and the knowledge how to minimize them. However, it should be noted that there is still some excess noise in LPF that is not yet understood but as it is below the LISA requirements, it is not preventing LISA from going forward.

1.3 Data Analysis of Space-based Observatories

1.3.1 Time-Delay Interferometry

1.3.1.1 Introduction



Fig. 1.7 TDI is an algorithm that uses three interferometer signals in each MOSA to cancel laser frequency noise p_{ij} , spacecraft motion Δ_{ij} , and clock noise (not shown here) to extract the gravitational wave information $y_{GW,ij}$. The inlet in the upper right corner shows the relevant components of MOSA 12. The associated laser (red) with phase noise p_{12} is injected from the bottom, split up into one beam that is sent into the telescope, one beam acts as the local oscillator in the interspacecraft interferometer (isc) where it beats against the received field with phase noise p_{21} from the far S/C. The local laser is also used to measure the test-mass (TM) position using the beat signal with the third field (phase noise p_{13}) which is injected from MOSA 13. This test-mass interferometer (tm) is compared with the reference interferometer beat signal (ref). Each of the six MOSAs produces these three signals.

As explained in the previous section, the core measurements of LISA are phase evolutions measured from multiple heterodyne interferometers. This is shown in more detail in figure 1.7. Each MOSA produces three laser beat signals: the interspacecraft (or science) interferometer (isc) measures changes y_{GW} in the distance between the two optical benches (OB) on widely separated spacecrafts, the test-mass (tm) interferometer measures the OB motion – a.k.a. spacecraft jitter – Δ around the test-mass (TM). The reference interferometer is needed to measure the differential phase noise between the two lasers on each spacecraft. These three signals on MOSA 12 are:

$$\operatorname{isc}_{12} = \mathbf{D}_{12} \left[p_{21} - \Delta_{21} \right] + y_{GW,12} - \left[p_{12} + \Delta_{12} \right] + N_{\operatorname{isc},12}$$
(1.15)

$$\operatorname{tm}_{12} = (p_{13} + fn_{13}) - [p_{12} + 2(\Delta_{12} - \delta_{TM, 12})]$$
(1.16)

$$\operatorname{ref}_{12} = (p_{13} + fn_{13}) - p_{12} \tag{1.17}$$

where 12 refers to *located on spacecraft 1 and facing spacecraft 2*. $\mathbf{D}_{rs}x(t) = x(t - L_{rs}/c)$ is the propagation delay operator which takes into account the propagation time between the spacecrafts; in this case, the laser phase noise of the laser on the sending spacecraft *s* needs time before it is received on the receiving spacecraft *r*. $N_{isc,12}$ is the interferometer noise which includes shot noise, noise in the phasemeter measurement system and length changes on the OB or within the telescopes which are ideally all below shot noise. $\delta_{TM,12}$ is the residual acceleration noise of the testmass expressed as displacement noise $\tilde{\delta} = \delta \tilde{a}/4\pi^2 f^2$. These two terms limit the sensitivity of LISA. The local exchange of the laser beams between the two local MOSAs through the back link fiber adds additional phase noise fn_{13} to the field from the other bench.

The formulation for the MOSA 23 and 31 are obtained by circular permutation of the indices $(1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 1)$. For the adjacent MOSA 13, the model is:

$$\operatorname{isc}_{13} = \mathbf{D}_{13}[p_{31} - \Delta_{31}] + y_{GW,13} - [p_{13} + \Delta_{13}] + N_{\operatorname{isc},13}$$
 (1.18)

$$\operatorname{tm}_{13} = (p_{12} + fn_{12}) - [p_{13} + 2(\Delta_{13} - \delta_{TM,13})]$$
(1.19)

$$\operatorname{ref}_{13} = (p_{12} + fn_{12}) - p_{13} \tag{1.20}$$

The formulation for the MOSA 21 and 32 are obtained again by circular permutation of indices.

1.3.1.2 Spacecraft jitter measurement and subtraction

As discussed before, in a drag free system like LISA, the spacecraft follows the motion of the test-mass along the sensitive axis using the measured position of the test-mass with respect to the optical bench as the sensor or error signal. The μ N-thrusters which actuate the heavy spacecraft have a limited actuation bandwidth and are expected to reduce the spacecraft motion to a few nm/ $\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ in the LISA band, two to three orders of magnitude larger than the sensitivity goal of LISA ex-

pressed in displacement noise. The test mass interferometer measures the separation between test-mass and optical bench but its signal also depends on the differential phase noise of the two laser fields which is also measured by the reference interferometer. The difference between the two reveals the spacecraft jitter:

$$tm_{12} - ref_{12} = 2(\Delta_{12} - \delta_{TM,12})$$

A similar measurement on spacecraft 2, properly delayed by the light travel time between the spacecrafts, together with the inter-spacecraft interferometer measurement can be combined to form two new quantities which are free of any spacecraft jitter along the sensitive axis:

$$\xi_{12} = \operatorname{isc}_{12} - \frac{\operatorname{tm}_{12} - \operatorname{ref}_{12}}{2} - \frac{D_{12} \, [\operatorname{tm}_{21} - \operatorname{ref}_{21}]}{2} \tag{1.21}$$

$$\xi_{13} = \operatorname{isc}_{13} - \frac{\operatorname{tm}_{13} - \operatorname{ref}_{13}}{2} - \frac{D_{13} \ [\operatorname{tm}_{31} - \operatorname{ref}_{31}]}{2} \tag{1.22}$$

with $D_{rs}x = x\left(t - \frac{L_{rs}(t)}{c}\right)$ being the TDI delay operator along arm *rs*. Note that these linear combination will be formed in post-processing on the ground from the six times three different MOSA measurements. In contrast to the propagation delay, \mathbf{D}_{rs} which depends on the physical distance between the spacecraft, the TDI delay, D_{rs} , is applied on-ground and depends on the knowledge of the light travel time between the spacecraft.

Spacecraft jitter also has rotational components and lateral components in the LISA band along the other five degrees of freedom. As discussed before, these couple to other forms of misalignments and wavefront errors and are responsible for what is known as tilt-to-length (TTL) noise. This spacecraft jitter will also be measured – either with wavefront sensing or with capacitive sensors – and actively suppressed as much as possible. The residual spacecraft jitter and the TTL coupling coefficient for each degree of freedom will be measured to later subtract also TTL noise in post-processing on the ground.

1.3.1.3 Suppressing laser frequency noise

The suppression of the laser frequency noise requires that the back link fiber noise is reciprocal $fn_{12} = fn_{13}$, at least to better than $1 \text{ pm}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$. This allows to eliminate laser frequency noise in post-processing by subtracting first the two reference measurements taken on the same spacecraft from each other to eliminate the fiber noise. This difference is then subtracted from the ξ_{rs} to cancel the three laser frequency noises p_{13} , p_{21} and p_{32} :

$$\eta_{12} = \xi_{12} + \frac{D_{12} [\operatorname{ref}_{21} - \operatorname{ref}_{23}]}{2}$$

$$\eta_{13} = \xi_{13} - \frac{\operatorname{ref}_{13} - \operatorname{ref}_{12}}{2}$$
(1.23)

As a net result all η_{rs} combinations only contain one laser frequency noise (p_{12} , p_{23} and p_{31}) per spacecraft; this is the step where the artificial beam splitter is created.

Then, in order to suppress the three remaining laser frequency noises, complex combinations are formed which are known as TDI generators. They have different sensitivities to different gravitational waves, some are even mostly insensitive and allow to measure instrumental noise [217, 137]. We will restrict our discussion on the Michelson TDI generator X; the Y and Z Michelson generators can be generated from it by cycling the indices or by renaming the central spacecraft in figure 1.8.

A TDI generator can be seen as the interference between two virtual beams [220]. For the classical static equal arm Michelson interferometer in which the far MOSA act as mirrors or noise-free transponders, $\mathbf{D}_{12} = \mathbf{D}_{21} = \mathbf{D}_{31} = \mathbf{D}_{13}$, $p_{21} = \mathbf{D}_{21}p_{12}$ and $p_{31} = \mathbf{D}_{31}p_{13}$, laser frequency noise cancels at recombination. However, in LISA the transponders are not noise-free $p_{rs} \neq \mathbf{D}_{rs}p_{sr}$ and, in a triangular configuration, it is not possible that all MOSAs act as mirrors. For the still static equal arm Michelson interferometer, the interference between the beam doing the loop between spacecraft 1 and 2, i.e. $\eta_{12} + D_{12}\eta_{21}$ and the beam doing the loop between spacecraft 1 and 3, i.e. $\eta_{13} + D_{13}\eta_{31}$, the laser frequency noise would still cancel if the arms are equal in length $\mathbf{D}_{13} = \mathbf{D}_{31} = \mathbf{D}_{12} = \mathbf{D}_{21}$ and if the propagation delay is known such that we can set the applied time delay $D_{rs} = \mathbf{D}_{rs}$.

Unfortunately, the arms in LISA are not equal, here for example $\mathbf{D}_{31} \neq \mathbf{D}_{12}$, and we have to create an artificial equal arm Michelson interferometer. The TDI generator $X_{1.5}$ lets each of the two beams do an additional virtual loop in the other arm such that the combination of real and virtual paths for each beam is the same:

$$X_{1.5} = \eta_{13} + D_{13}\eta_{31} + D_{13}D_{31}\eta_{12} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}\eta_{21} - \eta_{12} - D_{12}\eta_{21} - D_{12}D_{21}\eta_{13} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}\eta_{31}$$
(1.24)

Similar TDI generators exist for Y and Z where the other spacecraft are the central spacecraft. However, this is still not sufficient for LISA as the arms change their length with m/s velocities and the constellation is rotating around a common center such that even $\mathbf{D}_{13} \neq \mathbf{D}_{31}$. A constant length change can be compensated by doing two additional loops as shown in figure 1.8. This $X_{2.0}$ TDI generator:

$$X_{2.0} = \eta_{13} + D_{13}\eta_{31} + D_{13}D_{31}\eta_{12} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}\eta_{21} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}D_{21}\eta_{12} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}D_{21}D_{12}\eta_{21} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}D_{21}D_{12}D_{21}\eta_{13} + D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}D_{21}D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}\eta_{31} - \eta_{12} - D_{12}\eta_{21} - D_{12}D_{21}\eta_{13} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}\eta_{31} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}D_{31}\eta_{13} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}D_{31}D_{13}\eta_{31} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}D_{31}\eta_{12} - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}D_{31}D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}\eta_{21} (1.25)$$

is finally sufficient for LISA. Note that $X_{2,0}$ is only one of several second generation TDI generators which cancel laser frequency noise and have different sensitivities to different gravitational wave polarizations and propagation directions. Furthermore,

Sagnac-like combinations exist which are mostly insensitive to gravitational waves at low-frequency and laser frequency noise but allow to estimate uncorrelated instrumental noise.



Fig. 1.8 Geometric representation of the TDI combination $X_{2.0}$, combination (1.25). Figure reproduced from [46].

As discussed in equation 1.6, the application of TDI 2.0 still requires to know the propagation delays and apply them as matching TDI-delays in post-processing. The spacecraft ranging system uses pseudo-random noise (PRN) codes which will be modulated onto the laser beams. Alternatively, a signal pure region of the spectrum could be used to minimize the noise [180]. Another set of problems is associated with the need to downsample the data on each spacecraft as the possible data rate from space to ground is severely limited. The LISA data rate is expected to be a few samples per second which will be created by downsampling the much faster phasemeter data. This data is then upsampled again on ground to at least 0.3 sns sampling rates using precise interpolation filters to time shift the data sets as accurate as needed [47]. Several experiments have shown that 8 to 10 orders of magnitude common mode suppression of laser frequency noise using TDI is possible.

1.3.1.4 Suppressing clock noise and TTL using TDI

Also already mentioned in section 1.2, the phasemeter is measuring the phase of the signal with respect to the onboard USO. Since USOs are not perfect and not in the same gravitational potential, they fluctuate adding errors of two types to the measurements: i) an additional phase noise corresponding to the clock jitter noise and ii) a time stamping error. Both noise sources are mostly relevant as a differential noise source. To correct for the additional clock jitter noise, LISA upconverts each 10 MHz clock signal to order 2 GHz and modulates the phase of each laser via an Electro-Optic Modulator. These sidebands generate beat signals similar to the interferometric beat signals. The phase noise of these beat signals is identical to the phase noise in the main beat signals with the addition of the upscaled differential USO noise. These measured phase noise terms also enter the TDI generators to eliminate their impact on the sensitivity. Time stamps are transmitted with the downsampled phasemeter data to ground. Time stamping errors are similar to ranging errors and

would influence our ability to cancel laser frequency noise in post-processing. More details can be found in [137].

Tilt-to-length (TTL) coupling includes for example piston effects in the local test-mass interferometer where an angular tilt of the test-mass couples to lateral spacecraft motion or where a lateral shift between the test-mass center of mass and the optical axis couples to angular spacecraft jitter. As discussed before, the relative alignment between the spacecraft and the test-mass is measured either interferometrically or capacitively and its TTL coupling will be calibrated and subtracted from the local interferometer data before it enters in equations (1.23). However, the TTL noise in the inter-spacecraft interferometer includes contributions caused by angular jitter of the far spacecraft which turns into TTL due to the wavefront error. This jitter will be measured using wavefront sensing and properly calibrated and delayed before it also enters the TDI-generator.

1.3.1.5 Impact on unsuppressed noises

Only the spacecraft jitter noises including TTL, the laser frequency noises and the clock jitter noises are suppressed by TDI (see sections 1.3.1.2, 1.3.1.3, 1.3.1.4) and, if the suppression works as expected, should not limit LISA. Instead, LISA will again be limited by noise sources which are typically uncorrelated such as shot noise, acceleration noise not associated with spacecraft motion, phasemeter noise, scattered light and many others. The TDI generators also affect their shape in the TDI data, how they will limit the sensitivity and our ability to extract gravitational waves from it. In order to compute the noise budget, it is necessary to compute the transfer function for each noise source.

We will use the acceleration noises δ_{rs} and the interferometer noises, $N_{isc,rs}$, in the simplified model introduced in section 1.3.1.1 and the $X_{2.0}$ TDI generator to discuss this. We propagate the noises through the set of equations presented above (isc_{rs}, tm_{rs}, ref_{rs} $\rightarrow \xi_{rs} \rightarrow \chi_{2.0}$) and arrive at:

$$X_{2.0} = (1 - D_{12}D_{21}D_{13}D_{31})((N_{isc,13} + D_{13}N_{isc,31} + (1 + D_{13}D_{31})\delta_{TM,13} - 2D_{13}\delta_{TM,31}) + D_{13}D_{31}(N_{isc,12} + D_{12}N_{isc,21} - (1 + D_{12}D_{21})\delta_{TM,12} + 2D_{12}\delta_{TM,21})) - (1 - D_{13}D_{31}D_{12}D_{21})((N_{isc,12} + D_{12}N_{isc,21} - (1 + D_{12}D_{21})\delta_{TM,12} + 2D_{12}\delta_{TM,21}) + D_{12}D_{21}(N_{isc,13} + D_{13}N_{isc,31} + (1 + D_{13}D_{31})\delta_{TM,13} - 2D_{13}\delta_{TM,31}))$$
(1.26)

Then, we compute the Power Spectral Density (PSD), i.e. the Fourier transform of the autocorrelation function of $X_{2.0}$, $PSD_{X_{2.0}} = \langle \tilde{X}_{2.0} \tilde{X}_{2.0}^* \rangle$, where the tilde denotes the Fourier transform or the earlier introduced linear spectral density.

Here we have to make certain assumptions about the noise. We will assume no correlation between noise sources such that all cross-terms will vanish, i.e. $\tilde{N}_{isc,rs}\tilde{\delta}_{TM,rs} = 0$ and $\tilde{N}_{isc,rs}\tilde{N}_{isc,kl} = \tilde{\delta}_{TM,rs}\tilde{\delta}_{TM,kl} = 0$ when $rs \neq kl$. While this is certainly true for shot noise in each isc interferometer or Brownian motion of the test-masses discussed earlier and measured in each tm interferometer, it is not obvious for example for noise sources which are driven by temperature changes or charging events caused by solar activities. However, here we limit the discussion to uncorrelated noise and the PSD will be:

$$PSD_{X_{2,0}} = 16\sin^{2}\left(\omega\frac{L_{12} + L_{21} + L_{13} + L_{31}}{2c}\right) \\ \times \left(\sin^{2}\left(\omega\frac{L_{12} + L_{21}}{2c}\right)\left(S_{N_{13}} + S_{N_{31}} + 4\left(S_{\delta_{31}} + \cos^{2}\left(\omega\frac{L_{13} + L_{31}}{2c}\right)S_{\delta_{13}}\right)\right) \\ + \sin^{2}\left(\omega\frac{L_{13} + L_{31}}{2c}\right)\left(S_{N_{12}} + S_{N_{21}} + 4\left(S_{\delta_{21}} + \cos^{2}\left(\omega\frac{L_{12} + L_{21}}{2c}\right)S_{\delta_{12}}\right)\right)\right)$$
(1.27)

where $\omega = 2\pi f$ and f is the Fourier frequency. $S_{\delta} = \left\langle \tilde{\delta}_{TM,rs} \tilde{\delta}^*_{TM,rs} \right\rangle$ and $S_N = \left\langle \tilde{N}_{isc,rs} \tilde{N}^*_{isc,rs} \right\rangle$ are the PSDs of the isc and tm noise terms introduced in equations (1.18) and (1.19). Furthermore, using also the approximations that all armlengths are equal (or equal enough) and all noises of the same type have the same PSD in all six MOSAs, the PSD simplifies to:

$$PSD_{X_{2.0}} = 64\sin^2\left(\frac{2\omega L}{c}\right)\sin^2\left(\frac{\omega L}{c}\right)\left(S_N + 2\left(1 + \cos^2\left(\frac{\omega L}{c}\right)\right)S_\delta\right)$$
(1.28)

This PSD corresponds to the noise in the $X_{2.0}$ output of the instrument caused by N_{isc} and δ_{TM} . This exercise will have to be repeated for all other noise sources which can not be lumped into N_{isc} and δ_{TM} and add to the overall noise of LISA. The resulting PSD from ESAs LISA Science Requirement document [165] for one of these TDI generators is shown in figure 1.9. The PSDs for the $Y_{2.0}$ and $Z_{2.0}$ are similar while the other generators will have different shapes.

1.3.1.6 Noise quasi-uncorrelated TDI generators

The noises in the Michelson TDI generators X,Y, Z are correlated. In GW data analysis, in particular for computing the likelihood (see section 1.3.3 and equation (1.41)), we have to do computation with the noise matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} PSD_X(f) & CSD_{XY}(f) & CSD_{XZ}(f) \\ CSD_{YX}(f) & PSD_Y(f) & CSD_{YZ}(f) \\ CSD_{ZX}(f) & CSD_{ZY}(f) & PSD_Z(f) \end{pmatrix}$$

In order to simplify the computation, this matrix can be diagonalised.

In the approximation that all the noise contributions of the same kind are equal in magnitude, all PSD and all CSD are equal and the noise matrix can be diagonalised [192]. We get the quasi-uncorrelated TDI generators:



Fig. 1.9 PSD of noises for TDI $X_{2.0}$ in relative frequency unit for the LISA configuration as defined in the ESA LISA Science Requirement Document [165]. Details are given in [197].

$$A = \frac{Z - X}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad E = \frac{X - 2Y + Z}{\sqrt{6}}, \quad T = \frac{X + Y + Z}{\sqrt{3}}$$
(1.29)

A, E and T are widely used for GW data analysis. T is usually called the "null" channel since the GW signal at low frequencies mostly vanishes.

1.3.2 Instrument response to GW and sensitivity

In the previous section, we expressed the noise level in the output of the instrument. In this section we will expressed the GW signal in this output and then the sensitivity.

The GW acts on the laser beams travelling between spacecrafts (link). Its effect is obtained by integrating the metric perturbation h_{ij} along the link. For a beam emitted by the sender *s* and received by *r*, it corresponds to

$$y_{GW,rs} \approx \frac{\Phi_{rs}(t - \hat{k}.\vec{R}_s/c - L_{rs}/c) - \Phi_{rs}(t - \hat{k}.\vec{R}_r/c)}{2(1 - \hat{k}.\hat{n}_{rs})}$$
(1.30)

where $\vec{R}_{s/r}$ is the vector position of a sender/receiver, \hat{n}_{rs} the unit vector connecting sender and receiver and \hat{k} the direction of GW propagation expressed as

$$\hat{k} = -\{\cos\beta\cos\lambda, \cos\beta\sin\lambda, \sin\beta\}.$$
(1.31)

where β is the ecliptic latitude and λ the ecliptic longitude of the source. The projection of the GW strain, h_{ij} , on the link is:

$$\Phi_{rs} = \hat{n}_{rs} \, h_{ij}^{SSB} \, \hat{n}_{rs} \tag{1.32}$$

25

The polarization basis of the GW in Solar System Barycenter reference frame (SSB) is chosen as

$$\hat{u} = \frac{\partial \hat{k}}{\partial \lambda}$$
 and $\hat{v} = \frac{\partial \hat{k}}{\partial \beta}$ (1.33)

In this basis,

$$h_{ij}^{SSB} = (h_+ \cos 2\psi - h_\times \sin 2\psi)\varepsilon_{ij}^+ + (h_+ \sin 2\psi + h_\times \cos 2\psi)\varepsilon_{ij}^+ \quad (1.34)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ij}^{+} = (\hat{\boldsymbol{u}} \otimes \hat{\boldsymbol{u}} - \hat{\boldsymbol{v}} \otimes \hat{\boldsymbol{v}})_{ij} \tag{1.35}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{ij}^{\times} = (\hat{\boldsymbol{u}} \otimes \hat{\boldsymbol{v}} + \hat{\boldsymbol{v}} \otimes \hat{\boldsymbol{u}})_{ij} \tag{1.36}$$

where ψ is the polarization angle and h_+ and h_{\times} , the polarization in the source frame. The GW response in TDI is obtained by propagating the expression (1.30) in TDI: $y_{GW,rs} \rightarrow isc_{rs}, tm_{rs}, ref_{rs} \rightarrow \xi_{rs} \rightarrow \eta_{rs} \rightarrow X, Y, Z$.

The response of the instrument depends of the source sky localisation and polarization. To estimate the global response of the instrument it is usually convenient to average it over sky and polarization. Since there is no full analytical version of this average response, it is computed numerically or analytically within some approximations as for example the long wavelength limit that gives for TDI $X_{2.0}$:

$$R_{LW,X_{2.0}} = \frac{48}{5} \left(\frac{\omega L}{c}\right)^2 \sin^2\left(\frac{\omega L}{c}\right) \sin^2\left(\frac{2\omega L}{c}\right)$$
(1.37)

The response is shown on figure 1.10.

The sensitivity of LISA is obtained by dividing the PSD of the noise (example (1.28)) by the response of the instrument. An illustration is shown on figure 1.11

1.3.3 Data analysis strategies

We begin this section by summarising a few assumptions that are commonly made when thinking about data analysis strategies for gravitational wave detectors in space, or on the ground. The fundamental assumption is that each data channel, \mathbf{d}_i , is a linear combinations of signal, \mathbf{h}_i , and noise, \mathbf{n}_i . The transfer function relating the incident gravitational wave strain to the content of each of the TDI data channels was described above. The noise properties were also characterised by the PSD. While a PSD can be defined for any random process, for gravitational wave detectors the additional assumption is typically made that the noise is *stationary* and *Gaussian*. For a stationary process, noise fluctuations at different frequencies obey the relation

$$\langle \tilde{n}^*(f)\tilde{n}(f')\rangle = \delta(f - f')S_n(f) \tag{1.38}$$



Fig. 1.10 Response of $X_{2,0}$ of LISA to GW sources. Details are given in [197].



Fig. 1.11 Sensitivity of $X_{2,0}$ of the LISA configuration as defined in the ESA LISA Science Requirement Document [165]. Details are given in [197].

where $S_n(f)$ is the PSD of the random process. In other words, the fluctuations at different frequencies are independent and have variances given by the PSD. For a Gaussian random process, all noise components follow Normal distributions. A Normal distribution is completely characterised by its covariance matrix and so the PSD completely specifies the statistical properties of the noise. We introduce the noise-weighted inner product

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbf{a}|\mathbf{b}) &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{a}^*(f)\tilde{b}(f) + \tilde{a}(f)\tilde{b}^*(f)}{S_n(f)} \,\mathrm{d}f \\ &= 4\mathrm{Re} \,\int_0^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{a}^*(f)\tilde{b}(f)}{S_n(f)} \,\mathrm{d}f \end{aligned} \tag{1.39}$$

where the latter equality holds if $\mathbf{a}(t)$ and $\mathbf{b}(t)$ are both real time series. Under the assumptions of stationarity and Gaussianity the probability distribution of the noise can be written in terms of this inner product as

$$p(\mathbf{n}) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{n}|\mathbf{n})\right].$$
 (1.40)

The likelihood of the data, $p(\mathbf{d}_i | \vec{\theta})$, as a function of the parameters, $\vec{\theta}$, of the gravitational wave sources present is thus

$$p(\mathbf{d}_i|\vec{\theta}) = p(\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{d}_i - \mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta})) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{d}_i - \mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta})|\mathbf{d}_i - \mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta}))\right].$$
(1.41)

1.3.3.1 Matched filtering and Bayesian analysis

Writing the signal component of the data stream as $\mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta}) = A\hat{\mathbf{h}}(\vec{\theta})$, where *A* is the "amplitude" of the waveform and $\hat{\mathbf{h}}(\vec{\theta})$ is a "normalised" template satisfying $(\hat{\mathbf{h}}|\hat{\mathbf{h}}) = 1$, the log-likelihood can be expressed as

$$\ln(p(\mathbf{d}_i|\vec{\boldsymbol{\theta}})) \propto -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left[A - (\mathbf{d}_i|\hat{\mathbf{h}}) \right]^2 + (\mathbf{d}_i|\mathbf{d}_i) - (\mathbf{d}_i|\hat{\mathbf{h}})^2 \right\}.$$
 (1.42)

For given parameters $\vec{\theta}$, this is maximized for $A = (\mathbf{d}_i | \hat{\mathbf{h}})$, and the maximum loglikelihood is $(\mathbf{d}_i | \hat{\mathbf{h}})^2/2$. Therefore, the maximum likelihood parameters are those which maximize $(\mathbf{d}_i | \hat{\mathbf{h}})^2$, the inner product of a normalised template waveform with the data. This argument assumes that the amplitude can be varied independently of the other parameters. This is typically true for gravitational wave sources, since the amplitude is directly proportional to the luminosity distance to the source, and the latter does not otherwise alter the gravitational waveform.

The notion of identifying the parameters of the source by maximizing the overlap $(\mathbf{d}_i|\hat{\mathbf{h}})$ also follows from the theory of *filtering*. We consider replacing the time series $d_i(t)$ by a filtered series

Jonathan Gair, Martin Hewitson, Antoine Petiteau, Guido Mueller

$$w(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d_i(t') K(t - t') \, \mathrm{d}t', \qquad (1.43)$$

where K(t) is some Kernel function. From the convolution theorem for Fourier transforms $\tilde{w}(f) = \tilde{K}(f)\tilde{d}_i(f)$, where $\tilde{K}(f)$ and $\tilde{d}_i(f)$ are the Fourier transforms of K(t) and $d_i(t)$ respectively. The expectation value of the zero-lag output of the filter, w(0), is

$$S = \langle w(0) \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \tilde{K}(f) \tilde{h}(f) \, \mathrm{d}f,$$

where we use the fact that the noise has zero mean. The variance of the zero-lag filter response in the absence of a signal is

$$N^{2} = \left\langle \left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} K(-t') n(t') \mathrm{d}t' \right| \right\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\tilde{K}(f)|^{2} S_{n}(f) \mathrm{d}f,$$

where we have made use of Eq. ((1.38)). The ratio of the expected zero-lag filter response in the presence of a signal to the root-mean-square expected response in the absence of a signal, S/N, is called the *signal to noise ratio*. It is straightforward to see that the signal-to-noise ratio is maximized by the choice of a filter function

$$\tilde{K}(f) \propto \frac{\tilde{h}(f)}{S_n(f)}.$$
(1.44)

This is often referred to as a *matched filter* because the filter function takes the same form as the embedded signal, weighted by the noise variance. The signal-tonoise ratio of this *optimal* filter is $(\mathbf{h}|\mathbf{h})$. The matched filter is only optimal if the parameters of the signal are known. When the signal parameters are unknown then typically multiple possible matched filters are considered, forming a *template bank* of possible waveforms. Every waveform in the template bank is used to filter the data and the template with the largest filter output provides a best-guess to the signal parameters. As described above, this is equivalent to maximizing the likelihood.

Maximum likelihood evaluation and matched filtering provide point estimates of the signal parameters, but a point estimate is usually insufficient for useful scientific inference, unless it is accompanied by some kind of estimate of the uncertainty in the estimate. While it is possible to estimate uncertainties for point estimators, the preferred approach in the gravitational wave community is to use Bayesian inference for parameter estimation. In Bayesian inference the parameters of the system are not regarded to be fixed and unknown, but to be random variables described by a probability distribution. Before observing any data, the state of knowledge of the system parameters is described by a *prior distribution*, $\pi(\vec{\theta})$. This can also be thought of as a statement about the distribution of parameters over the population of sources of that type. After observing the data, the state of knowledge is udpated to a *posterior distribution*, $p(\vec{\theta}|\mathbf{d}_i)$, using the likelihood of the data generating process in an application of *Bayes' Theorem*

$$p(\vec{\theta}|\mathbf{d}_i) = \frac{p(\mathbf{d}_i|\vec{\theta})\pi(\vec{\theta})}{p(\mathbf{d}_i)},\tag{1.45}$$

where $p(\mathbf{d}_i) = \int p(\mathbf{d}_i | \vec{\theta}) \pi(\vec{\theta}) d\vec{\theta}$ is the *Bayesian evidence*, and all probability distributions are as previously defined. The Bayesian evidence plays a crucial role in model selection but for parameter estimation it is just a normalising constant and is typically ignored. The posterior distribution is usually not available in a closed analytic form, and it is common to represent the posterior by a (sufficiently large) set of samples drawn randomly from it. Fast and efficient computational methods for drawing samples from posterior distributions are an active area of research. Common approaches employed in space-based gravitational wave data analysis include Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) and nested sampling [121].

The posterior distribution encodes all information that the data provides about the signal, but it is computationally expensive to characterise. For carrying out studies of expected parameter precision over the full parameter space of signals it is advantageous to have faster methods. In this context it is most common to compute the *Fisher matrix*, which is given in terms of the noise-weighted inner product as

$$\Gamma_{ij} = \left(\frac{\partial \mathbf{h}}{\partial \theta^i} \middle| \frac{\partial \mathbf{h}}{\partial \theta^j}\right). \tag{1.46}$$

The square root of the diagonal elements of the inverse Fisher matrix provide a guide to the precision with which each parameter would be expected to be measured, $\Delta \theta^i \sim \sqrt{\Gamma_{ii}^{-1}}$. This can be justified in a number of ways, for example the Fisher matrix appears as the Cramer-Rao lower-bound of the covariance of an unbiased estimator of the parameters $\vec{\theta}$ and also as the asymptotic covariance matrix characterising the limiting normal distribution when performing multiple repeated measurements of the parameters. However, the easiest way to see its relevance is to carry out an expansion of the likelihood in the vicinity of the true parameters of the signal, $\vec{\theta}_0$. We write

$$\mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta}) = \mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta}_0) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{h}}{\partial \theta_i} \Delta \theta^i + \cdots, \qquad (1.47)$$

which is known as the *linear signal approximation*. Substituting into the likelihood for the data stream $\mathbf{d}_i = \mathbf{n} + \mathbf{h}(\vec{\theta}_0)$ we obtain

$$p(\mathbf{d}_{i}|\vec{\theta}) \propto \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{n}-\partial_{i}\mathbf{h}\Delta\theta^{i}|\mathbf{n}-\partial_{j}\mathbf{h}\Delta\theta^{j})\right]$$

$$= \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\left[(\mathbf{n}|\mathbf{n})-2(\mathbf{n}|\partial_{i}\mathbf{h})\Delta\theta^{i}+(\partial_{i}\mathbf{h}|\partial_{j}\mathbf{h})\Delta\theta^{i}\Delta\theta^{j}\right]\right\}$$

$$= \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{n}|\mathbf{n})\right]\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\left(\Delta\theta^{i}-(\Gamma^{-1})_{ik}(\mathbf{n}|\partial_{k}\mathbf{h})\right)\Gamma_{ij}\left(\Delta\theta^{j}-(\Gamma^{-1})_{jl}(\mathbf{n}|\partial_{l}\mathbf{h})\right)\right]$$

$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{n}|\partial_{i}\mathbf{h})(\Gamma^{-1})_{ij}(\mathbf{n}|\partial_{j}\mathbf{h})\right], \qquad (1.48)$$

29

in which we are using the shorthand notation $\partial_i \mathbf{h} \equiv \partial \mathbf{h} / \partial \theta^i$ and all derivatives are evaluated at $\vec{\theta}_0$. Ignoring the last term as it is lower order we see that this is a Gaussian distribution with covariance given by the Fisher matrix. Thus the Fisher matrix can also be seen as a leading-order approximation to the log-likelihood. In this context it is easy to see that the Fisher matrix is a better approximation at high signal-to-noise ratio, when the expected uncertainties in the parameters are smaller and hence the linear signal approximation is more likely to be valid. The Bayesian posterior is not equal to the likelihood, but instead includes the prior term. The Fisher matrix is still a good approximation to the width of the posterior distribution if the prior is slowly varying over the typical width of the likelihood. If that is not the case, then the analogous result for the posterior distribution can be found by replacing Γ_{ij} with $\Gamma_{ij} + P_{ij}$, where $P_{ij} = (\partial \pi / \partial \theta^i)(\partial \pi / \partial \theta^j)$.

The Fisher matrix is proportional to the square of the waveform and hence to the signal-to-noise ratio squared. Thus the expected precision of parameter estimation, in the range of validity of the Fisher matrix, scales like one over the signal-to-noise ratio. In section 1.4 we will estimate the precision with which LISA can measure source parameters using the Fisher matrix approach. While these results depend on the shape of the sensitivity curve and will in principle be different for different observatories, the results obtained for LISA can be used to roughly estimate the precision for other missions by computing the ratio of the signal-to-noise ratios in two different gravitational wave detectors.

1.3.3.2 Global fit strategies

For a given GW source observed with LISA, the likelihood surface (likelihood as a function of parameters) can be quite complex with multiple modes (degeneracies) and very narrow peaks. Therefore extracting one source is already not easy and requires the evaluation of a large number of templates and likelihoods in order to sufficiently explore the parameters space.

Compared to LIGO/Virgo/KAGRA, the additional complexity of LISA is the large number of sources of various types that will be observed with signals partially overlapping in time. In a matched filtering approach, the optimal template would include all of the sources in the data, but this is not practical as the number of parameters to search for would be too large. To solve this challenge, refereed to as the *global fit*, a number of different approaches are currently being investigated. One approach is to first identify the loudest sources in the data, subtract them, and then search for the loudest sources remaining in the residual, continuing iteratively in this way. An alternative approach is to divide the data, either in the frequency or time domains, or perhaps the wavelet domain, into smaller sub-domains, and independently explore each part to find the sources [61].

A common feature of all data analysis methods is their reliance on the existence of models for the gravitational waves as a function of the system parameters. Any analysis will require the evaluation of the likelihood at a large number of points in parameter space, which will require evaluation of a waveform template. Therefore, very fast computation of templates is necessary. A template depends on both the GW strain and the response of the instrument to a GW, which includes evaluation of TDI. Many proposed approaches to LISA data analysis use Bayesian techniques [121, 93, 34], but other approaches that have been suggested include genetic algorithms [191, 94] and machine learning.

Since 2005 there has been intense research into LISA data analysis. One of the driving elements was the Mock LISA Data Challenge (MLDC), which operated between 2005 and 2011 [222, 31, 32, 30] and now the LISA Data Challenge (LDC), which has operated since 2017. These comprise regular releases of simulated data of increasing complexity both for the GW sources and for the realism of the instrument. The results from many participants are collected and analysed to compare efficiency of diifferent methods.

Almost all methods are using the TDI data as the input. However some recent studies have investigated the possibility of using the interferometer measurements directly, marginalising over the laser frequency noises [221, 35].

1.3.3.3 Robust analysis and other analysis

While the matched filtering methods are efficient, they strongly rely on the knowledge of the signal we are looking for. Alternative methods with minimum assumptions on the signal are also developed to complement the matched filtering approaches. Since they are not optimal, they are less efficient to extract small signals in the noise but they are more robust. For example some of them are looking for excess power [149] and others at sparsity in the data [62].

1.3.4 Instrumental artefacts and noise characterisation

In a space-based mission, it is impossible to modify the hardware after the launch. We are also limited in our possibilities to investigate problems and noise sources. It is therefore crucial to build an instrument as robust as possible including a large variety of measurements and to prepare calibrations procedures which will be used during the commissioning phase but also to characterise the noises during the science operations. In order to characterize the instrument and to check its performance, we will also make use of the "verification binaries" which are guaranteed sources with a well known GW emission. The LISA data will probably be dominated by powerful GW sources hiding the other sources and the noises. Since it is not possible to switch-off the GW sources, we will have to rely on auxiliary measurements and on a precise noise budget. The noise characterization will also be very important for searching for stochastic sources as the potential GW emission from the very Early Universe which appears as correlated noises between various TDI channels.

In addition to "standard noises" several artefacts are expected and the data analysis strategies have to be adapted to them. For example:

- **Glitches**: in LISA Pathfinder glitches (transient instrumental events) have been observed with a duration between a few seconds to a few hours. The characteristic time between two glitches is a day. These instrumental events are not fully understood yet but we are expecting similar events in LISA.
- **Gaps**: there will be gaps in the data. Some of them are required for maintenance (ex: antenna repointing, change of laser frequencies, etc).
- Non-stationarity: fluctuations in the instrument and the environment such as changes in temperature distributions, fluctuations of the pressure around the test masses, aging and even failure of components such as the lasers will change the noise spectrum.

1.3.5 Ground segment design

The Ground Segment (GS) is a key element in most space missions and this is particularly true for GW space based observatories. In LISA it is considered to be a part of the instrument since it cleans the data and produces the final interference measurements, the TDI data. The GS will also perform the GW searches which will require large computing resources.

The design of the LISA GS is an ongoing effort. It will have to perform the following processes:

- **Calibration**: As for any instrument, measurements will have to be calibrated. Dedicated operations on ground before the launch or in space could be necessary to measure the calibration coefficients as for example the actuation gain.
- Forces subtraction : As for LISA Pathfinder, we are expecting to have various forces acting on the test-mass and spacecraft. These forces will have to be sub-tracted from the data.
- **Clock synchronisation**: As described before (see section 1.3.1.4), each spacecraft has an Ultra Stable Oscillator used to time tag all measurements. Since USO are not perfect and are in different gravitational potential, the data from the three spacecraft are not synchronised with each other and with the Coordinated Universal Time. It is therefore necessary to synchronise the different data on the same time reference. The Kalman filtering also used for ranging (see next item) will contribute to this synchronisation.
- **Ranging**: In order to perform the suppression of dominating noises with TDI, it is crucial to have a good knowledge of the armlength. While the analysis of the PRN with the phasemeter will provide a first estimate of the armlength, it is necessary to refine it to reach the precision required for TDI. In LISA, this refinement will be done via Kalman filtering.
- **TDI**: Several dominant noises (the spacecraft jitter noises, the laser frequency noises and the clock jitter noises) have to be strongly suppressed by TDI (see section 1.3.1).
- Low latency analysis: The first step of the GW analysis strategy is the low latency pipeline for performing a fast analysis of the data and provide as soon as

32

possible alerts to the broad community. These alerts are the detection of new strong sources with their localisation parameters or the refinement of the localisation parameters of sources already detected.

• **Full analysis**: The full analysis will generate the primary scientific results for LISA. Using multiple pipelines (chains of analysis processes) it will investigate deeply the data to extract as much information as possible, about all the GW sources in the data that pass some detectability threshold, and also the characteristics of the instrument.

LISA is the first mission of this kind and there are a number of uncertainties both for instrument and GW sources (populations, new unexpected sources, etc). Therefore it is crucial to allow some flexibility in the data analysis pipeline to quickly adapt them. It is also important to use in parallel different methods to cross-check and consolidate the results.

1.4 GW Sources for Space-based Observatories

In this section we will give an overview of the likely sources of gravitational waves for space-based gravitational wave detectors. There are other chapters in this book that provide more detailed expositions of the astrophysics of these various types of sources, so we will only briefly discuss this, but will also discuss the precision with which space-based gravitational wave detectors will be able to characterise the properties of the systems they observe. We start with some general observations. The following results follow from straightforward physical arguments which we will provide, but related results and arguments can be found in [189, 115].

The primary source of gravitational waves for all types of gravitational wave detectors are binary star systems containing two compact objects. The dominant gravitational emission from a binary is at twice the orbital frequency, $f_{gw} = 2f_{orb}$. We will now derive some results for a Newtonian binary, but the scalings also apply in the relativistic limit. The orbital frequency of a Newtonian binary with component masses M_1 and M_2 and a semi-major axis *a* is

$$2\pi f_{\rm orb} = \sqrt{\frac{G(M_1+M_2)}{a^3}}.$$

The semi-major axis of a compact binary just before merger is

$$a_{\rm merg} = k \frac{G(M_1 + M_2)}{c^2} \tag{1.49}$$

where k is a constant that depends on the mass ratio and eccentricity of the binary and the spin of the individual binary components. The gravitational wave frequency at merger is thus Jonathan Gair, Martin Hewitson, Antoine Petiteau, Guido Mueller

$$f_{\rm gw,merg} = 4.4 \,\mathrm{mHz} \left(\frac{6}{k}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{10^6 M_{\odot}}{(M_1 + M_2)}\right). \tag{1.50}$$

In the point-particle limit, $M_2 \ll M_1$, and for a non-spinning primary black hole and a circular orbit, k = 6. Ground-based gravitational wave detectors operating in the frequency band from a few to a few thousand Hertz can thus observe the mergers of compact binaries with masses between $\sim 1M_{\odot}$ and $\sim 1000M_{\odot}$. Space-based gravitational wave detectors, on the other hand, operate in the millihertz frequency range and so cannot observe such mergers, but are instead sensitive to gravitational waves emitted during the merger of much more massive systems, typically with total mass in the range $\sim 10^4 M_{\odot} - 10^7 M_{\odot}$.

Merging binaries containing MBHs are important sources for space-based detectors and will be discussed in sections 1.4.3 and 1.4.4. This is not the whole story, however. Binaries emit not only at the merger frequency but at all frequencies below the merger frequency. To understand if the early phases of the binary emission are detectable we need to understand how the gravitational wave amplitude changes as the binary evolves. The detectability of a gravitational wave source may be characterised by its matched filtering signal-to-noise ratio, as defined and described in section 1.3.3.1. Explicitly this is given by

$$\rho^2 = 4 \int_0^\infty \frac{|\tilde{h}(f)|^2}{S_n(f)} \,\mathrm{d}f.$$
 (1.51)

For an evolving binary the Fourier transform is related to the amplitude of the radiation, *h*, and the rate of change of frequency via the stationary-phase approximation, $\tilde{h} \sim h/\sqrt{f}$. At leading order, the gravitational wave strain from a source at distance *D* is given by the second time derivative of the quadrupole moment of the source, $h \sim I/D$. For a Newtonian binary with orbital frequency $\omega/(2\pi)$, the quadrupole moment can be estimated as

$$I \sim \mu r^2 \cos 2\omega t \sim \frac{M_1 M_2}{(M_1 + M_2)^{\frac{1}{3}}} \omega^{-\frac{4}{3}},$$

where $\mu = M_1 M_2 / (M_1 + M_2)$ is the reduced mass. The gravitational wave strain can therefore be estimated as

$$h \sim rac{\ddot{I}}{D} \sim rac{1}{D} rac{M_1 M_2}{(M_1 + M_2)^{rac{1}{3}}} \omega^{rac{2}{3}}$$

The rate of energy loss scales like the third time derivative of I squared and so this has the scaling

$$\dot{E}\sim-\ddot{I}^2\sim-\mu^2 M^{\frac{4}{3}}\omega^{\frac{10}{3}}.$$

Finally, we need to know how the energy relates to the orbital separation or equivalently the orbital frequency. In the Newtonian limit this follows from

$$E = -\frac{M\mu}{2r} = -\frac{\mu(M\omega)^{\frac{2}{3}}}{2}$$

from which we deduce

$$\dot{E} \sim -\mu M^{\frac{2}{3}} \omega^{-\frac{1}{3}} \dot{\omega}. \tag{1.52}$$

Combining this with expression (1.4) we obtain

$$\dot{\omega} \sim \mu M^{rac{2}{3}} \omega^{rac{11}{3}} = rac{M_1 M_2}{\left(M_1 + M_2
ight)^{rac{1}{3}}} \omega^{rac{11}{3}} = M_c^{rac{5}{3}} \omega^{rac{11}{3}}$$

where we have introduced the chirp mass

$$M_c = \frac{M_1^{\frac{3}{5}} M_2^{\frac{3}{5}}}{(M_1 + M_2)^{\frac{1}{5}}}.$$

We deduce that the Fourier domain strain scales as

$$\tilde{h}(f) \sim \frac{h}{\sqrt{f}} \sim \frac{1}{D} \frac{M_c^{\frac{5}{3}} f^{\frac{2}{3}}}{M_c^{\frac{5}{6}} f^{\frac{11}{6}}} = \frac{1}{D} M_c^{\frac{5}{6}} f^{-\frac{7}{6}}$$

A more careful calculation, no longer making a Newtonian assumption, but working only to leading order, (see, for example, [53]) gives the prefactor in this expression

$$\tilde{h}(f) = \frac{c}{\sqrt{30}\pi^{\frac{2}{3}}} \frac{1}{D} \left(\frac{GM_c}{c^3}\right)^{\frac{3}{6}} f^{-\frac{7}{6}}.$$
(1.53)

We note that for sources at a cosmological redshift z, the correct mass to use in these expressions is the *redshifted mass*, i.e., $M_{c,z} = (1+z)M_c$, and the correct distance is the luminosity distance. This distinction is not important for the following few sections, but it will be relevant when we discuss the science applications of the various sources. The Fourier domain amplitude in Eq. (1.53) increases at lower frequencies, but the available bandwidth for observation, i.e., the range of frequencies over which a source is observed, typically decreases. For sources for which the full inspiral to merger is observed, the bandwidth can be approximated by the merger frequency, and $|\tilde{h}(f_{\text{merg}})|^2 f_{\text{merg}} \sim M_c^{5/3} (M_1 + M_2)^{4/3} / D^2 = \eta (M_1 + M_2)^3 / D^2$, where $\eta = \mu/(M_1 + M_2)$ is the symmetric reduced mass ratio. As argued above, merging sources for space-based detectors are typically 10⁴ times heavier than those for ground based detectors, providing a factor of 10^{12} in this expression for sources at the same distance. The signal-to-noise ratio depends also on the PSD of the detectors, and this is typically a few orders of magnitude larger for space-based detectors. Nonetheless, these simple arguments suggest that merging sources will have signal to noise ratios several orders of magnitude larger at the same distance. More careful calculations show that this is indeed the case and space-based detectors are expected to see mergers at very high redshifts, if such sources exist.

For sources that do not inspiral completely over the observation, we can approximate the bandwidth by $\Delta f \sim \dot{f}T$, where T is the length of observation. In this case, the square root of the numerator of the integrand of Eq. (1.51) can be seen to scale as $\tilde{h}(f)\sqrt{\Delta f} \sim M_c^{5/3} f^{2/3} \sqrt{T}$. A binary with mass of 1 solar mass would be observed by ground-based detectors merging at about 1kHz, and would be in the band of ground-based detectors for \sim 100s. A space-based detector could observe the same source at ~ 1 mHz for several years, $\sim 10^8$ s, and so the signal-to-noise ratio would only be a factor of ~ 10 lower, if the strain sensitivities expressed as PSDs were comparable in the respective frequency bands. The difference in PSD changes this to a factor of one thousand or more, for sources at the same distance. The detection horizon for such systems in ground-based detectors is tens of megaparsecs, so these arguments suggest that space-based detectors could detect the same systems in the early inspiral phase at distances of tens of kiloparsecs. This encompasses our galaxy, in which such early-inspiral compact binaries are expected to be abundant. Such compact binaries in the Milky Way are another important source for spacebased detectors, which are discussed in section 1.4.1.

We can repeat the above arguments for systems with mass around $100M_{\odot}$. These will be observed for ~ 0.1s up to merger at ~ 50Hz by ground-based detectors, while a space-based detector could observe these at frequencies of ~ 10mHz for several years. The same argument as before suggests the square root of the numerator of Eq. (1.51) is a few tens higher for the space-based detector. Accounting for PSD differences we might therefore expect such sources to be visible with similar signal-to-noise ratios in ground and space-based instruments. More careful calculations confirm this is indeed the case, and it is now expected that the more massive stellar origin compact binaries in the population being observed by ground-based detectors. This will be discussed in section 1.4.2.

So far we have concentrated on the observability of individual sources, but there is also the prospect of detecting a stochastic background of gravitational wave radiation, which could be generated by a superposition of a larger number of individual sources, or via processes occurring in the early Universe. The latter source of gravitational waves will be discussed in section 1.4.5.

Figure 1.12 shows a representation of a number of sources for space-based gravitational wave detectors, overlaid over the sensitivity curve of the LISA instrument [20].

1.4.1 Compact binaries in the Milky Way

The majority of stars in the Universe are found in binaries, and the end point of stellar evolution is the formation of a compact object, either a white dwarf, a neutron star or a black hole. If the binary survives the formation of the compact objects, then once the binary has decayed to the point that the orbital frequency is of the order of an hour, the binary will be generating gravitational waves at millihertz fre-


Fig. 1.12 LISA sensitivity curve (in green), and a selection of astrophysical sources for spacebased gravitational wave detectors. Sources illustrated include resolved and unresolved galactic binaries (see section 1.4.1), massive black hole mergers (see section 1.4.3) and stellar-origin black hole binaries (see section 1.4.2). The tracks show the evolution of the system in the observation band, while the height above the instrumental sensitivity is a measure of the signal-to-ratio of the system.

quencies [142, 184]. As argued above these should be detectable by space-based gravitational wave detectors for binaries within the Milky Way. There are tens of millions of such "ultra-compact" hour-period binaries in the Milky Way, the vast majority of which are double white dwarf systems. There are so many binaries that they will not all be individually resolvable, but the majority will form a stochastic confusion foreground [109]. A significant number of the ultra-compact binaries will be evolving. Some binaries will be chirping to higher frequency due to the decay of the orbit through the emission of gravitational waves, but other binaries will be moving to lower frequency as a result of mass transfer between the binary components driving an increase in the orbital separation. Several ultra-compact binaries villes are already known through electromagnetic observations which are sufficiently close and at high enough frequency that the gravitational waves they are emitting will be quickly detected by space-based observatories [210, 158]. These "verification binaries" could play an important role in assessing the performance of the LISA mission.

A first-generation space-based detector such as LISA would be expected to resolve between five and ten thousand ultra-compact binaries, and also detect the astrophysical foreground from the unresolved population [142, 187, 160]. The exact number depends on the sensitivity of the instrument and on currently unknown details of the astrophysical population. About one quarter if the resolved systems will show sufficient frequency evolution for the frequency derivative to be measured and for a handful of binaries the second time derivative of frequency could be measured, allowing a determination of the mass ratio of the system.

The ability of space-based detectors, in particular LISA, to constrain the parameters of ultra-compact binaries has been assessed using Fisher matrix methods, and also verified within the framework of the LISA (Mock) Data Challenges [222]. The latter have confirmed using realistic datasets containing an entire simulated galaxy of signals, that thousands of ultra-compact binaries can be individually resolved [61, 31, 32]. As the sources are essentially monochromatic, the precision of frequency estimation is determined by the resolution of Fourier frequency bins, and so is of the order of $1/(1\text{year}) \sim 10^{-8}\text{s}^{-1}$ (for a ~ 3 year observation). The precision of measurements of the frequency derivative can be similarly estimated to be $\Delta f/T \sim 10^{-16}$ Hz/s, set by the requirement that the frequency changes by one frequency bin over the observation time. Estimates of sky location and distance precision from the Fisher matrix suggest typical sky location accuracies of a tens of square degrees, and distances to ten percent. However, about 20% of detected systems will be well localised on the sky (less than 10 square degrees) and about 5% of systems will have both good sky localisation and accurate distance determination (less than 1%) [166].

1.4.2 Stellar-origin black hole binaries

The gravitational wave source GW150914, was transformational not only because it was the first gravitational wave source detected by man-made observatories [5, 4], but because it provided the first ever direct constraint on the binary black hole population. The system was surprisingly massive, with components of mass $\sim 29M_{\odot}$ and $\sim 36M_{\odot}$ respectively. As argued earlier in this section, such systems can be observed with comparable signal-to-noise ratio by space-based detectors, a few years before the source is observed to merge by a ground-based detector. The space-based observation not only probes an earlier phase in the inspiral, but also provides prewarning of the time and sky location of merger events to facilitate joint observations in multiple wave and frequency bands. Combined observations offer a unique opportunity to probe the astrophysics of binary black hole systems as they approach merger.

After the announcement of GW150914 it was shown that a space-based detector like LISA could detect a few tens of similar stellar-origin black hole binary (SOBHB) systems in the early stages of inspiral [201]. This assumed a threshold signal-to-noise ratio of \sim 8 would be needed for detection, and that the source could be observed by the space-based detector for \sim 5years. The exact number of observed events depends crucially on the details of the astrophysical population, and on the assumed high-frequency sensitivity of the space-based interferometer [181, 127]. GW150914 was a threshold event for LISA, meaning that any source with lower mass or at greater distance would not be detectable. Therefore the number of ob-

served events depends on the details of the black hole population at masses greater than GW150914. Subsequent LIGO/Virgo observations have included a number of additional high mass systems, including some which would also have been observable by a LISA-like detector [1, 2]. These observations also showed evidence for the hypothesized "mass-gap", the absence of black holes with masses between $\sim 50M_{\odot}$ and $\sim 150M_{\odot}$ due to the onset of pair-instability during the collapse of the parent star at the end. The mass gap reduces the number of potential high mass LISA sources. However, LIGO/Virgo have also seen one other event, GW190521 [10], that is consistent with at least one component lying within the mass gap. While the exact nature of this system is under debate, it could hint at the existence of another population of higher mass systems that are potential sources for space-based detectors [219].

Space-based detectors observe the early inspiral of SOBHB systems, where the system is evolving slowly, but they can observe them for many years, observing many cycles of the phase evolution. This facilitates extremely precise measurements of the system parameters. The space-based observation alone can determine the individual masses in the binary to better than 1%, the sky location to within 10 square degrees, and the time of coalescence to within 10s, months to years before the coalescence is due to take place [201, 219]. If the SOBHB orbit is eccentric at a frequency of 0.01Hz, the eccentricity can be measured. Eccentricities as small as 10^{-3} can be distinguished in the observation [185], while larger eccentricities, $e \sim 0.1$, can be measured with uncertainties of $\sim 10^{-7}$. These eccentricity measurements are important for distinguishing SOBHB formation channels, which will be discussed in section 1.5.1.2.

1.4.3 Massive black hole binaries

It is now well established that galaxies and massive black holes formed very early in the evolution of the Universe. Galaxies have been found at redshifts greater than 10 [86] and accreting supermassive black holes have been observed at redshifts greater than 7.5 [225]. There is also growing evidence of the presence of lower mass accreting black holes at high redshift [172]. Most galaxies appear to host black holes at their centres [155] and these are very massive, $\sim 10^6 M_{\odot} - 10^{10} M_{\odot}$, but more and more low mass black holes are now being discovered [134]. Over cosmic history, galaxies merge and it is expected that, following such mergers, the massive black holes at their centres will also merge via gravitational wave emission. Lower mass galaxies tend to have lower mass black holes in their centres, and as we go back in time galaxies were less massive than today, so many of these gravitational waves will come from systems with mass in the range $10^4 M_{\odot} - 10^7 M_{\odot}$ and will thus be in the millihertz range observable to space-based detectors. These lighter black holes are hard to observe electromagnetically and so there are a number of viable models for the formation of massive black hole seeds that are consistent with current EM observations. In "light seed" models, black holes with mass $\sim 100 M_{\odot}$ form

at high redshift through the collapse of the first generation of low-metallicity highmass stars [69]. In "heavy seed" models, black holes of higher mass, $\sim 10^5 M_{\odot}$ form later through the direct collapse of most of the gas in the galaxy into a single supermassive star [70]. Other formation channels include the formation of seed black holes of $\sim 10^3 M_{\odot}$ via run-away stellar or black hole collisions in young, dense star clusters [102, 177]. Gravitational wave observations with space-based detectors will directly probe the first epoch of massive black hole (MBH) mergers and hence help to distinguish between these different models and shed light on the early growth of structure in the Universe.

Space-based GW detectors will observe MBH mergers with very high signal-tonoise ratio out to very high redshift. Figure 1.13 shows the signal-to-noise ratio with which the LISA detector would be able to resolve MBH mergers with mass ratio of 1:5, as a function of the mass of the object and the distance/redshift of the source. Despite these high signal-to-noise ratios, the number of events that will be observed is somewhat uncertain, driven by the uncertainties in the astrophysical population that were described above. In addition to the uncertainties in the mass of the black hole seeds, a significant source of uncertainty is in the unknown delay time between the merger of the host galaxies and the subsequent merger of the MBH binary [23]. Nonetheless, most models predict that a LISA-like space-based detector would observe between about 10 and about 100 MBH mergers per year [154], assuming that a signal-to-noise ratio of 8 is required for a confident detection. Of these observed mergers approximately half will be seen at high redshift z > 7, except when delay times are long and mergers occur at later times. The number of events observed in the heavy-seed models is largely independent of the exact configuration of the space-based detector, since these events are so loud, but some light-seed models predict many light mergers at high redshift, so a more sensitive detector can detect significantly more of these, with important astrophysical implications [154].

Space-based gravitational wave observations will constrain the intrinsic parameters of observed MBH binaries to very high precision, driven by the fact that the signals can be observed with very high signal-to-noise ratio and for many thousands of cycles of phase evolution. The (redshifted) masses of the binary components can be determined to a precision better than 1% for about half of the observed events, and the spin magnitude of the primary (secondary) black hole measured to 1% (10%) for about ten percent of the observed events [154]. A significant fraction of systems will have the primary spin magnitude and the misalignment of the spin of the binary components with respect to the orbital plane of the binary constrained to the percent level. The fraction of observed systems for which this is possible could be as high as $\sim 25\%$, but this is dependent on the details of the spin distribution of astrophysical MBHs, which is extremely uncertain. A few events per year should also have well measured spins for the remnant black hole created during the merger [154]. The typical expected precision of sky localisation is tens of square degrees and that of luminosity distance is tens of percent. However, as many as a few tens of events per year at z < 5 could be localised to better than 10 square degrees and 10% in distance [154]. These well localised events at lower redshift are good targets for follow-up electromagnetic observations, to identify any counterparts. It is also ex-



Fig. 1.13 Contours of constant signal-to-noise ratio for observations of MBH mergers with mass ration 1 : 5 with the space-based detector LISA, as a function of the redshifted total mass of the binary (horizontal axis) and distance/redshift (vertical axis). Space-based gravitational wave detectors will be able to observed MBH mergers of the right mass to very high redshift. Stars indicate points for which LISA mission requirements were set in order to ensure detection of these sources.

pected that there will be at least one event, and perhaps a few tens, that will be at high redshift, z > 7, and have distance measured to $\sim 30\%$ [154]. These events are important as the distance precision is enough that we will be sure they are at high redshift, and hence provide important constraints on models of MBH formation and evolution.

1.4.4 Extreme-mass-ratio inspirals

The MBHs in the centres of galaxies that were described in the previous section are typically surrounded by clusters of stars. Stars in these clusters follow the usual evolutionary path, leading to the eventual formation of a compact remnant, which will be a black hole, neutron star or white dwarf, depending on the mass and the metallicity of the original star. These galacto-centric stellar clusters are dense, and the stars within them undergo frequent encounters which can leave these compact objects on orbits that pass very close to the central MBH. Such objects can get captured onto orbits bound to the central MBH and then gradually inspiral into the MBH via emission of gravitational waves [21]. Typically the ratio of the mass of the stellar-origin compact object that is falling into the MBH to the mass of the MBH is $\sim 10^{-5}$, so these events are called *extreme-mass-ratio inspirals* or EMRIs.

Over the past two decades, observations of the stellar cluster around the black hole in the centre of the Milky Way have revealed a number of unexpected features [128, 130], indicating that the physics of stellar clusters around MBHs is poorly understood. EMRI observations will explore a much larger sample of these stellar environments in the Universe. In addition, EMRIs offer an exciting new way to probe fundamental physics. Due to the extreme mass-ratio, each EMRI emits detectable gravitational waves for hundreds of thousands of waveform cycles while the small object is in the strong gravitational field close to the central MBH. The emitted gravitational waves encode a map of the spacetime structure that can be used to test general relativity [125]. This will be discussed further in section 1.5.3.3.

The capture scenario for the formation of an EMRI described above is the "standard" formation channel [141, 207] and leads to EMRIs that have moderate eccentricity (~ 0.2) at plunge, and are on orbits that are inclined with respect to the orbital plane of the central MBH. However, a number of alternative scenarios have also been suggested. Binary stars in the vicinity of the MBH can come close enough to the MBH to undergo a three-body interaction that splits the binary and leaves one component bound to the MBH [178]. Massive stars that similarly come close to the MBH can have their outer envelope stripped, leaving the white dwarf core bound to the central objects [98]. In both these scenarios, the compact object is captured with random inclination, but sufficiently far from the central MBH that the orbit will have circularised before the object enters the band of space-based detectors as an EMRI. A final alternative scenario is the formation of compact objects in an accretion disc around a MBH. In this scenario, parts of the disc collapse to form massive stars which then evolve as normal and leave compact remnants in orbits around the MBH, that eventually inspiral as EMRIs [161]. As in the previous two scenarios, EMRIs formed in this way are predicted to be on circular orbits, but now also in the equatorial plane of the MBH. The relative importance of these various scenarios in the Universe is currently unknown, but gravitational wave observations could elucidate the different channels through measurements of the orbital properties of the objects. We refer the reader to [21] and references therein for more details.

The complexity of the physics of stellar clusters means that the rate at which EMRIs occur in the Universe is very uncertain. Of particular importance is the fraction of compact object captures that lead to gradual inspiral into the MBH, which would be observable as EMRIs, versus those that plunge directly into the MBH, the poorly known scaling of the EMRI rate with MBH mass, and the uncertain number of MBHs in the range relevant to space-based gravitational wave detectors. The impact of these various uncertainties was extensively explored in [33], where it was shown that the number of EMRIs observed by LISA could be anywhere between 1 and several thousand per year. The most pessimistic and the most optimistic models were deliberately chosen to be extreme, but the more reasonable models spanned a

1 Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

range from a few tens to almost a thousand events per year. These rates assume that a signal-to-noise ratio of ~ 20 is required for the detection of an EMRI, which is somewhat larger than the ~ 8 that is typically assumed for MBH binaries and other sources. This is driven by the expected complexity of the very long EMRI waveforms, which means that the number of independent waveform templates across the parameter space is very large [120]. Preliminary results from the Mock LISA Data Challenges suggest that this threshold might be pessimistic [34, 32], but those uncertainties are negligible compared to the much greater astrophysical uncertainties. If the rate of EMRI events is at the high end of predictions then in additional to these individually resolvable EMRI events there could be a stochastic foreground generated by the population of unresolved EMRIs, similar to the expected foreground from ultra-compact binaries in the Milky Way [38, 63].

Due to the eccentricity and inclination of the orbits, EMRI waveforms show a very rich structure that is a superposition of the orbital frequency and precession frequencies of the periapse and orbital plane. This is illustrated in Figure 1.14. This complexity, combined with the long duration and hence large number of cycles observed for a typical EMRI facilitate extremely accurate measurements of the parameters of the source. Using a Fisher matrix approach it was shown that a single EMRI observation will typically provide estimates of the masses of both components, the spin of the MBH and the eccentricity of the orbit to fractional accuracies of $\sim 10^{-6}$ - 10^{-5} [33]. The location of the EMRI on the sky can be determined to better than 10 square degrees in most cases, and less than a square degree in a good fraction of cases. The luminosity distance of the EMRI will typically be measured to a precision of $\sim 1\%$ -10%. If the MBH has near-extremal spin, i.e., the rotation rate is close to the maximum allowed value of 1, the spin measurement improves by another order of magnitude [73], allowing the confident identification of near-extremal systems if they exist. These precise measurements have been verified through Bayesian posterior estimation within the context of the Mock LISA Data Challenges [34, 32] and have important implications for science with EMRIs, which will be discussed in section 1.5.

We conclude this section we mentioning a couple of related sources which could also be observed with space-based gravitational wave detectors. In the standard EMRI formation picture, the inspiralling object begins on a highly eccentric orbit, with periapse quite close to the MBH. Until the source has inspiralled sufficiently to be radiating continually in the millihertz GW band, the periapse remains approximately fixed, while the apoapse decays. The emission in this period is characterised by periodic bursts of gravitational waves emitted each time the compact object passes the MBH. These GW bursts from systems in this early stage of inspiral in the centre of the Milky Way [50], or nearby galaxies [51], could potentially be seen by a space-based detector, but this is dependent on the properties of the MBHs in the local Universe and on the astrophysical EMRI event rate. Another related source has been termed an *extremely-large mass-ratio inspiral* or "XMRI" [18]. These are the inspirals of brown dwarfs, which have mass a few hundredths of a solar mass. Brown dwarfs are more abundant than compact objects in galactic centres, and inspiral more slowly, so there could be many of these in the process of



Fig. 1.14 Snapshot of the orbit of an EMRI viewed from the side (top panel) and the corresponding gravitational waveform (bottom panel). The colour coding identifies points of the orbit with the corresponding part of the GW. When the object is close to the black hole the emission is higher amplitude and frequency than when the object is far away. The overall waveform is modulated by precession of the orbital plane with respect to the line of sight to the observer. Figure taken from [20], adapted from [119].

inspiral at any given time. These are only detectable in the local Universe and the exact number that will be observed is highly uncertain, but a space-based detector like LISA could observe O(10) signals from such systems.

1.4.5 Cosmological sources

Processes occurring at high energies in the early Universe can generate stochastic backgrounds of gravitational waves. A detection of this radiation would be of great importance in understanding early Universe cosmology, since it can freely propagate from earlier times than the cosmic microwave background, which is the earliest that can be probed with EM observations. The frequency of GWs generated by cosmological processes is determined by the horizon scale, and hence temperature, of the Universe at the time of production, and by the amount of expansion of the Universe between the time of production and today. A number of physical processes have been proposed that could generate GWs in the 0.1mHz - 100mHz band. These include cosmological first-order phase transitions at energy scales of 0.1 to 100 TeV. Such phase transitions happen when the plasma in the universe changes phase via bubble nucleation. These bubbles expand, perturb the plasma, and collide, creating in this way gravitational waves at close to the horizon scale [229, 143, 104, 157]. A detection of these gravitational waves with a space-based detector could provide constraints on new physics, such as self-coupling of the Higgs field, supersymmetry or conformal dynamics [77, 78]. Another scenario is the existence of extra spacetime dimensions. At the TeV scale the Hubble length is about 1mm, so GWs on this scale could probe the dynamics of warped extra-dimensions, as predicted in some string theory scenarios [144, 193].

The Planck scale is not far above the TeV scales in some braneworld scenarios, in which case space-based GW detectors could probe inflationary reheating [152, 106, 113]. GWs at millihertz frequencies could also be produced through the amplification of quantum vacuum fluctuations in some unconventional inflationary models, such as the pre-big bang and bouncing brane scenarios [71, 72, 45]. A final mechanism for producing stochastic gravitational waves in the millihertz backgrounds is through the interactions of cosmic string networks. Cosmic strings are topological defects created by phase transitions, initially on microscopic scales, which are then stretched to astronomical scales by cosmological expansion [91, 60]. These strings can interact, forming cusps and loops that decay through emission of GWs. The emitted gravitational waves will form a background that is distinct from backgrounds generated via any other source, with nearly constant energy per logarithmic interval in frequency over many decades in frequency [60]. Space-based detectors are the most sensitive probes for these objects [29]. If strings are not too light, GW bursts from individual cosmic string cusps could also be detected, providing firm evidence of the cosmic string origin of the cusp.

All of the scenarios outlined above are somewhat speculative, so there is no guarantee that a space-based GW detector will see a stochastic cosmological back-

ground. Nonetheless, if it did the implications for the physics of the early Universe would be profound. Detection of a stochastic background in a gravitational wave detector is somewhat different to detection of individual sources. It will rely on crosscorrelation of two data channels with independent noise. For space-based interferometers like LISA, the TDI channels are noise-independent and so can be used for this purpose. The idea is that in the cross-correlation the cosmological noise component combines constructively, while the instrumental noise does not. Detectability also depends on the shape of the stochastic background, since the stochastic signal is broadband and can be integrated over the range of sensitivity of the detector. The detectability of backgrounds of various shapes and for various specific scenarios was explored in detail in [77, 45, 76, 78, 29, 75, 116]. Broadly speaking, a spacebased detector like LISA would be able to detect any background which contains more than $\sim 10^{-5}$ of the closure energy density of the Universe [20]. Broad-band backgrounds with logarithmic energy density at 1mHz in excess of a few $\times 10^{-14}$ should be detectable. For more detailed results under specific assumptions, we refer the reader to [77, 45, 76, 78, 29, 75, 116].

1.5 Science with Space-based Observatories

In this section, we will highlight some of the science applications of observations with space-based gravitational wave detectors, which range across astrophysics, cosmology and fundamental physics.

1.5.1 Astrophysics

1.5.1.1 Compact binaries in the Milky Way

The formation of ultra-compact binaries depends on various astrophysical processes, such as stellar formation and binary stellar evolution, including the poorlyunderstood common envelope phase [148]. Characterising the ultra-compact binary population will thus shed light on open astrophysical questions about the Milky Way stellar population. Currently only a few tens of ultra-compact binaries are known, and only a couple of these have periods shorter than ten minutes [170]. A spacebased gravitational wave detector such as LISA will discover several thousand additional systems, expanding the known population by two orders of magnitude, and making a complete survey of such systems at the shortest periods. These observations will provide key insights into the total number of such systems and hence their merger rates. The observed distribution of individually resolved systems and the distribution of the unresolved population inferred from the modulation of the stochastic foreground will resolve the structure of the Milky Way, including the thin and thick disc, the halo and globular clusters [13, 156]. Gravitational waves provide a unique probe for this as they do not suffer from dust obscuration and can thus "peer through"; the galactic centre. Finally, joint observations of ultra-compact binaries with gravitational waves and electromagnetic observations at high signal-tonoise ratio will provide key insights into the complex physics of interacting binaries, including tidal interactions and mass transfer [206].

1.5.1.2 Stellar-origin black hole binaries

By identifying the time of merger and approximate sky location of SOBHB systems well in advance of the event, space-based observatories can trigger follow-up observations with electromagnetic telescopes and ground-based GW detectors [201]. GW detectors are not pointable, so the pre-localisation on the sky is not important, but pre-determination of time of coalescence would allow the ground-based detectors to avoid scheduling maintenance at the time of the event. Triggers to EM facilities would allow deep searches for associated EM emission both pre- and post-merger. Detection of any EM emission would reveal properties of the material in the vicinity of the SOBHB, and hence shed light on the astrophysical environment of such systems.

Detection of residual eccentricity in the binary would provide crucial clues as to the origin of such systems. SOBHBs could form in the field as the end-point of isolated binary evolution, but could also form in the dense environments of globular clusters through dynamical capture, or in the vicinity of a MBH through Kozai-Lidov hardening of binaries created via mass segregation [24]. The residual eccentricity would be larger in the latter two cases, and could be detectable in an observation by a space-based detector, but would be too small by the time the source reached the band of ground-based detectors to be measurable. It was shown in [185, 186] that just a handful of SOBHB observations with a space-based detector could identify binaries formed in the vicinity of a MBH, so this should certainly be possible. Several tens of systems would be needed to distinguish the isolated binary and dynamical capture scenarios, so this will only be possible if the number of SOBHB systems observed is at the high end of current ranges. The formation channels of SOBHBs is currently hotly debated, and the information obtained from space-based observatories could be crucial to resolving it [65].

1.5.1.3 Massive black hole binaries

As described in section 1.4.3, massive black holes are observed to exist very early in cosmic history, and it is generally assumed that these black holes start as seed black holes and then grow through mergers and accretion. However, there are a number of plausible models for the formation of those seeds that are consistent with current data. A space-based GW detector operating in the millihertz band will measure the masses and spins of MBHs in merging binaries out to very high redshift, directly probing the epoch of formation and early evolution of black holes. This epoch cannot be easily probed with EM observations, so GWs may provide unique insight into the nature of black hole seeds, and their early growth through accretion. It was shown in [202] that LISA will be able to distinguish between a wide variety of seed black hole models, and identify mixed populations, determining the mixture fraction up to a precision of $\sim \pm 0.2$ [202, 19].

In addition to the properties of the individual black holes, the number and redshift at which the MBH binaries are observed to merge encodes important astrophysical information. MBH mergers follow mergers between their host galaxies, so the merger distribution tracks mergers between galaxies and the early growth of structure [138, 155]. LISA observations of MBH mergers out to high redshift will provide indirect constraints on the rate of galaxy mergers in the early Universe and the relative fraction of "major" or "minor" mergers, i.e., the fraction of mergers in which the MBH have similar masses or not. Measurements of the spin of these black holes will provide clues to the nature of accretion in galaxy halos at early and later times [56]. The distribution of events in redshift will encode clues to the delay time between the galaxy merger and the MBH merger, and hence the efficiency with which the MBH binary is brought to the centre of the merged galaxy. Finally, if these binaries are observed to have significant residual eccentricity, it could suggest the presence of a third MBH in the vicinity of the binary, which can excite eccentricity through the Kozai-Lidov resonance [64]. The fraction of LISA mergers observed to occur in triple systems is another important clue to build up a picture of the early evolution of cosmic structure.

The astrophysical impact of GW observations of MBH binaries will be significantly enhanced if multi-messenger observations are made [174]. Observing an EM counterpart to the GW event will provide complementary information about the material in the vicinity of the black hole. The environment of a black hole plays a key role in its evolution, driving spin and mass growth through accretion, and can play a role in driving the coalescence of MBH binaries [182]. While it is not certain that EM counterparts will be detected for any MBH binary, the discovery potential of multi-messenger observations is huge, as already demonstrated by joint observations of the binary neutron star merger GW170817 with ground-based detectors [3].

1.5.1.4 Extreme-mass-ratio-inspirals

EMRI observations will probe MBHs of similar mass to MBH mergers, but the primary black holes in EMRI events will be "quiescent" MBHs at lower redshifts, rather than MBHs undergoing highly dynamical interactions during mergers. Comparing the properties of the quiescent MBH population to the dynamical MBH population will provide further clues to the evolution of the MBH population. The observation of EMRI events would provide constraints on the MBH population in the interval where EM observations are poor or missing [124]. EMRI observations could also constrain the occupation fraction of MBHs in low mass galaxies without relying on accretion signatures [224]. EMRI measurements of black hole spins will constrain the spin distribution of low-mass black holes up to moderate redshift [33],

1 Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

providing a more complete census than can be obtained through, for example, accretion disc measurements, which are restricted to actively accreting MBHs, which are a minority.

EMRI observations will also provide precise measurements of the masses and orbital properties of compact objects in galactic nuclei [33]. These observations will reveal the mass spectrum of stellar-origin black holes in galactic nuclei, which can be compared to the corresponding mass spectrum observed in SOBHBs, which is now being constrained by ground-based GW detectors [11]. Differences or similarities between the observed populations will shed further light on stellar evolution in different astrophysical environments and on the origin of the SOBHB population. The number of EMRI events observed as a function of black hole mass will encode information about mass segregation in galactic nuclei [22], while the observed eccentricity and inclination distributions provide direct constraints on the EMRI formation channel [21]. Taking together, EMRI observations will build up a comprehensive picture of the complex physical processes that govern the dynamics of stars in galactic nuclei [17].

EMRI-like systems in which the smaller object is an intermediate mass black hole (IMBH) of $\sim 10^2 - 10^4 M_{\odot}$ could also be observed by space-based detectors [16]. These are often called *intermediate-mass-ratio inspirals* or IMRIs. Binaries of two IMBHs could also potentially be observed. The existence of IMBHs is not yet conclusively established observationally [134], but space-based GW detectors would provide mass measurements that are precise enough to robustly identify black holes that lie in the IMBH range. GW observations of such systems from space and from the ground thus offer a unique way to understand the astrophysics of these objects if they exist [123].

1.5.2 Cosmology

1.5.2.1 Probes of the early Universe

The detection of a stochastic background of gravitational waves and the measurement of its amplitude and slope would have profound implications for our understanding of the early Universe. As described in section 1.4.5 there are a number of non-standard scenarios that could produce such a background, including first-order phase transitions [229, 143, 104, 157, 77, 78], warped extra dimensions [144, 193], inflationary reheating in braneworld scenarios [152, 106, 113], non-standard inflation including pre-big bang and bouncing brane scenarios [71, 72, 45] or cosmic string networks [91, 60]. The spectra generated under these various scenarios are distinct and can be constrained by space-based GW observations [77, 45, 76, 78, 29, 75, 116], so if a background were to be detected it would provide insight into this new physics. In addition, because the GW background is generated before Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN), it can probe earlier epochs than any that have been constrained so far, even indirectly. In cosmological models that differ from the standard model prior to BBN, the GW background spectrum can change dramatically, providing a smoking gun for new physics during that epoch [29].

1.5.2.2 Cosmography with standard sirens

An important application of gravitational wave observations of SOBHBs, MBH binaries and EMRIs is for cosmography, i.e., to probe the expansion of the Universe over cosmological history. To probe the expansion of the Universe we need to measure the rate of expansion of the Universe, characterised by redshift, as a function of distance, characterised by luminosity distance. The luminosity distance-redshift relation depends on the cosmological model and the matter and energy content of the Universe, and hence can be used to constrain these properties. Various EM sources, including type IA supernovae [195], have been used for this purpose. These sources are referred to as standard sirens, since the basis of the approach is to assume that the intrinsic luminosity of the source is known and hence the observed luminosity provides a measure of distance. Redshift can be measured directly from the shift in frequency of spectral lines. The notion of using GW sources as *standard sirens* for the same purpose was first suggested in [199]. As described earlier, the strain of a GW source scales with the ratio of its (redshifted) mass to its luminosity distance. The redshifted mass also impacts the GW phasing and so can typically be measured very accurately from the GW data, so the observed amplitude gives a direct measurement of the luminosity distance. This is appealing since, in contrast to EM probes of cosmology, these measurements do not need to be calibrated to the local distance ladder. However, GW observations do not provide direct measurements of redshift.

If the GW event has an EM counterpart, the redshift can be obtained from the EM observation. This was exploited for GW170817, the first binary neutron star merger observed by ground-based interferometers [8], for which a kilonova counterpart was observed [3], enabling the first gravitational wave constraint on the Hubble constant [7]. For space-based detectors, the only source for which counterparts are thought to be possible are MBH mergers [174]. MBH mergers at low redshift, $z \sim 1-2$, can be localised to a few square degrees, permitting searches for EM counterparts [154]. These sources will have luminosity distance measurements of $\sim 1\%$, so any event with an associated counterpart will provide a percent-level constraint on cosmological parameters. An EMRI in which the smaller object is a white dwarf and the larger object is a low mass, rapidly spinning black hole, could generate an observable counterpart when the white dwarf is tidally disrupted toward the end of the inspiral [204, 169]. However, the event rate of such systems is likely to be very low [21, 33].

In the absence of a counterpart, cosmological constraints can be obtained statistically by comparing the locations of observed GW events with catalogues of galaxy redshifts. This has also been done using observations with ground-based detectors [114, 208, 9]. It has been shown that this statistical approach could yield constraints on the Hubble constant at the level of 1%, if 20 EMRIs are observed at redshift z < 0.5 with a LISA-like space-based GW detector [168]. That analysis assumed somewhat optimistic EMRI localisation volumes, but this will be partially compensated by the larger number of EMRI events predicted in current models [33]. Statistical cosmological constraints using observations of SOBHBs will achieve comparable precision on H_0 , if the number of observed events is at the higher end of predictions [159, 101], while observations of MBH mergers will achieve slightly worse precision on the Hubble parameter, but will permit estimates of the matter content of the Universe and the equation of state of dark energy [190].

There is a third approach to cosmology with gravitational wave sources, which is to use the GW measurement of the redshifted mass to estimate the redshift of the source. This can be done if assumptions are made about the distribution of masses of the observed signals. This was initially proposed in the context of observations of binary neutron star mergers with ground-based detectors, where it is justified by the narrow observed mass distribution of neutron stars in compact binaries [214, 213]. The mass distributions of EMRIs and MBHs are not expected to be sufficiently compact to permit interesting constraints in this way. However, the same procedure can be applied when the distribution has a sharp feature, such as the presence of the mass gap in SOBHBs. Exploiting this feature with observations of SOBHBs in future ground-based detectors could yield interesting cosmological constraints that are independent of all EM information [111], and so it is possible that something could also be done with SOBHB observations by space-based detectors. However, the lower expected number of events and evidence that the mass distribution is more complicated than a truncated power law [10, 11] suggest that, for space-based detectors, this approach will not be competitive with the counterpart or statistical approaches.

To finish this section, we note that the cosmological constraints described here, although competitive with current EM constraints, will probably be surpassed by EM data obtained between now and the launch of LISA. These measurements are nonetheless interesting as they provide a completely independent verification of the EM results, and are subject to a completely different set of systematic errors. In addition, space-based GW observations are one of the few approaches that can obtain constraints over a wide range of redshifts, probing redshift values that cannot be measured by electromagnetic probes. This could be crucial for resolving current tensions between low redshift [195, 194] and high redshift [14] cosmological measurements.

1.5.3 Fundamental Physics

Gravitational wave sources observed by both ground-based and space-based detectors can provide powerful tests of fundamental physics, i.e., whether the evolution of the binary and the observed gravitational wave emission are consistent with the predictions of general relativity. These tests are possible because GW observations provide very precise measurements of the waveform phase, and hence can identify very small changes to the phasing arising from new physics. Observations with space-based detectors are particularly powerful, because the sources typically have very high signal-to-noise ratio and are also long-lived. There are three distinct types of tests of gravitational physics that have been proposed, which we now briefly summarise.

1.5.3.1 Elucidating dark-matter

Only $\sim 15\%$ of the Universe is composed of "normal" baryonic matter [212]. For decades astronomers and particle physicists have been struggling to understand the nature of the other 85% of "dark matter" (DM). Observations with GW detectors will be able to shed light onto the nature of dark matter in a number of ways. Measurements of the distribution of masses and spins of MBHs can reveal the existence of DM due to the effect of DM interactions on these distributions (see [66] for a review and further references). If EMRIs or MBH mergers are taking place in an environment containing significant amounts of DM, this will impact the observed phasing of the emitted GWs in a measurable way [42]. The emitted waveforms can also be used to identify if the central MBH is in fact a self-gravitating DM structure [82, 164]. Clouds of ultra-light DM particles around spinning black holes can also generate GWs, either continuously or as bursts, that could be directly detected by GW detectors [68, 67]. Finally, DM interacting directly with the space-based interferometer could lead to measurable signatures [183, 135].

1.5.3.2 Testing the foundations of the gravitational interaction

Departures in the physics of gravity away from the predictions of general relativity can lead to differences in how gravitational waves are generated and how they propagate through the Universe. These differences change the phasing of the GWs, which can be detected in observations with gravitational wave detectors. A large number of alternatives to general relativity have been proposed, each varying one or more of the physical assumptions that underlie GR. Examples of alternatives that lead to measurable deviations in gravitational waveforms include massive gravity theories [228, 179], the existence of large or compact extra spacetime dimensions [232, 79, 105], variation of Newton's coupling constant over cosmic time [237, 211], violations of parity or chirality [15, 234], violations of Lorentz invariance [136, 238], violations of the Equivalence Principle [53, 233, 231] or the existence of additional scalar or vector fields that generate alternative polarisation states for gravitational waves [218]. We refer the reader to [125, 52, 41] for reviews and further references.

There are two basic approaches to constraining these physical effects with spacebased observations of GWs. The first is to construct model waveforms in these alternative physical scenarios, and use them within the framework of Bayesian inference calculations to place constraints on the parameters that occur in these specific the-

1 Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

ories. The alternative approach is "model-free" in the sense that no reference is made to a specific alternative theory. Instead generic modifications are made to the waveform models, which are then constrained with observations. Two different formalisms have been proposed in the literature. The first is to directly measure, or constrain modifications to, the post-Newtonian phase coefficients, i.e., the numerical factors multiplying different powers of the GW frequency in an expansion of the GW phase [28]. Space-based detectors should be able to identify departures from the GR values in observed MBH merger waveforms at the level of one tenth of a percent in the low order coefficients. Alternatively, generic additional terms can be included in the amplitude or phase of the gravitational waveform, allowing deviations in not only the size of the terms but also their frequency dependence. This is termed the parameterised post-Einsteinian (ppE) formalism [236]. MBH merger observations with space-based detectors will be able to place constraints across a wide range of the ppE parameter space, with particularly strong constraints at higher orders in frequency which cannot be well constrained by EM observations of Newtonian binaries in the Newtonian regime [92, 188].

Similar tests are also possible with SOBHBs, by exploiting the possibility of observing the same system by both space-based and ground-based detectors. The two observations provide snapshots of the waveform at two different epochs. Small differences in the rate of inspiral evolution of the binary can lead to measurable changes in the time separation between the two observations. Multi-band SOBHB observations with LISA and ground-based detectors can provide constraints on various alternatives to general relativity that are much better than are currently available [188]. This includes a six orders of magnitude improvement in constraints on the emission of dipole radiation [43]; several orders of magnitude improvement in constraints on Brans-Dicke theory, Einstein-dilaton-Gauss-Bonnet gravity and dynamical Chern-Simons gravity [132]; and an order of magnitude improvement in merger-ringdown consistency checks (see next section) [83].

To conclude this section we will mention the memory effect. A prediction of general relativity is that after a merger the spacetime will retain a permanent shift in its zero point and hence have a "memory" of the fact that a merger took place. There is both linear and non-linear memory and while the final spacetime off-set is at zero frequency and hence unobservable, it is in principle possible to directly observe the build up of the memory through the GW observation. Space-based detectors will measure the nonlinear memory build-up in MBH coalescences with sufficient significance to also test this aspect of gravitational theory [112, 147].

1.5.3.3 Testing the nature of black holes

Black holes in general relativity are completely characterised by two parameters a mass and a spin. All higher "moments" in an expansion of the gravitational field are determined by these two parameters and the resulting spacetime structure is described by the Kerr metric. This is often referred to as the "no-hair property". If general relativity does not describe the structure of black holes, or one of the auxiliary assumptions that lead to the uniqueness of the Kerr metric, such as the energy conditions or the formation of a horizon, are violated then the spacetime structure could have "hair" and deviate from the Kerr metric [119, 125, 82]. GW observations can be used to construct a map of the spacetime in the vicinity of a black hole and hence test the no-hair property. For space-based detectors observations of EMRIs and of the ringdown signal following the merger of two MBHs provide the cleanest tests. For an EMRI observation the information comes from tracking the waveform phase over many hundreds of thousands of waveform cycles. Small changes in the multipole structure lead to changes in the rate of inspiral of the binary that accumulate over the observation. This has been studied extensively, starting from a direct extraction of successive multipole moments described in [196]. More recent work has focused on the ability of space-based detectors to quantify the size of "bumps" away from the Kerr metric. Relevant early works include [87, 131, 40, 122, 74] but we refer the interested reader to [125, 230, 82] for a comprehensive summary of the literature.

Figure 1.15 shows results, first reported in [33], on the precision with which EMRI observations can detect departures in the quadrupole moment, ΔQ , of the central MBH from the value predicted by its mass and spin. These results are shown for twelve different models of the astrophysical population of EMRIs, labelled M1 – M12, and for two different models of the EMRI waveform, labelled "AK" and "NK". The two EMRI waveforms both use the analytic kludge model described in [39], but differ in where the inspiral is terminated as the small object plunges into the MBH. Full details can be found in [33]. Departures at the level of 10^{-4} can be detected if they are present. Other information about the nature of the object that can be extracted from EMRI observations includes the presence of a horizon [151], the nature of the tidal-coupling interaction [162] and the influence of perturbing matter [42] or nearby stars [235]. These effects should be distinguishable from those arising from differences in the nature of the central object.

After a MBH merger, the remnant black hole that forms settles down from a highly perturbed state to a quiescent Kerr spacetime through a process called ringdown. The ringdown radiation is a superposition of damped sinusoids, the frequency and decay time of which are uniquely determined by the mass and spin of the remnant black hole. Observation of two or more ringdown modes allows a consistency check between the frequencies and damping times that directly tests the no-hair property of the remnant [54, 55]. Recently a framework for model-independent ringdown constraints, similar to the ppE formalism, has been developed [81, 175, 171]. Ringdown constraints probe a different regime to inspiral constraints and are therefore somewhat complementary. Certain types of modification to the spacetime structure are better probed by one approach or the other [59, 57].

A final approach to testing the nature of the black holes in GW observations is to look for consistency in the properties of the black holes inferred from the inspiral and those inferred from the ringdown [129, 58]. Any differences between the observed properties of the merger and ringdown and those predicted from the inspiral using general relativity would reveal new physics during the highly dynamical merger phase. This approach has been applied to observations with ground based

1 Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories



Fig. 1.15 Distributions of accuracy with which EMRI observations can constrain deviations in the quadrupole moment of the central MBH from the value predicted by the Kerr metric. Results are shown for various models of the EMRI population, as described in [33]. Figure also reproduced from [33].

detectors [6], so far revealing no evidence for deviations from the predictions of general relativity. A closely related idea is to look for additional signals, or "echoes", in the data after an observed event. If they are seen, these echoes could indicate the existence of new physics near the horizon of black holes [80]. Claims have been made for evidence of these echoes in LIGO observations [12], but these are more likely to have been due to instrumental noise [227]. Future space-based detectors will shed further light onto this ongoing debate.

1.6 Prospects for Space-based Observatories

LISA will certainly not be the last space-based gravitational wave observatory. Missions beyond LISA have already been proposed in white papers and peer-reviewed scientific journals since at least the first years of this century [49, 48, 95]. Several new concepts were submitted to the Decadal 2020 review in the US [88] and ESA's Voyage 2050 long term plan [89, 200, 37, 36, 203]. They often target the frequency range between LISA and LIGO and are optimized between 1 mHz and 1 Hz [200, 37]. This frequency range is very interesting for mergers between intermediate mass black holes beyond LISA, typical LIGO mergers at higher redshifts and for transient signals passing from the LISA band into this band and then finally merging in the ground-based band. This frequency range might also be the most promising range for detecting the gravitational wave background radiation formed just after the big bang. Most of these proposals are loosely based on LISA technologies and will likely be limited by the same noise sources than LISA; one notable exception is atom interferometer based observatories [107] which are outside of the scope of this chapter but are discussed in the chapter of this volume titled *Atom Interferometer*. Here we want to look at ways to start the design of such missions, how basic mission parameters are used to derive target sensitivities, and glance over technological improvements that will be required to enable these missions.



Fig. 1.16 The generic sensitivity curve shows the two standard constituents, acceleration noise $\delta \tilde{a}$ and interferometer noise $\delta \tilde{l}$, and how they limit the strain sensitivity. Improvements in acceleration noise pushes the red curve down and improve the sensitivity at low frequencies, improvements in interferometer noise pushes the blue curve down and improve the sensitivity at high frequencies. Increasing the arm lengths pushes both curves to the left, reducing it to the right. Increasing the laser power or the diameter of the telescopes and decreasing the wavelength will reduce shot noise and $\delta \tilde{l}$ as long as the sensing system allows shot noise limited detection.

Figure 1.16 shows how acceleration noise $\delta \tilde{a}$ and interferometer or sensing noise $\delta \tilde{l}$ define the sensitivity expressed as a linear spectral density of the strain:

$$\tilde{h}(f) \sim \left\langle \frac{1}{L} \sqrt{\left(\frac{\delta \tilde{a}}{4\pi^2 f^2}\right)^2 + \left(\delta \tilde{l}\right)^2 \frac{\pi L f/c}{\sin\left(\pi L f/c\right)}} \right\rangle_{\text{sky locations}}$$
(1.54)

For simplicity and following most mission proposals, the acceleration noise and the interferometer noise are assumed to be frequency independent. As discussed before, frequency independent or white acceleration noise causes a displacement of the test masses which scales with $1/f^2$ and limits the performance at low frequencies. At higher frequencies, the periods of the gravitational waves become comparable to the light travel time in the arms and the stretching and squeezing of space time compensate each other. This leads to a sinc function in the response of the instrument or an inverse sinc function in the strain sensitivity for otherwise optimally aligned gravitational waves when the propagation direction is normal to the constellation. The zeros in the response at $f_{GW} = nc/L$ wash out when the sensitivity is averaged over all possible sky locations which turns the sharp peaks of the sinc into these wiggles. The sweet spot is in the frequency range where acceleration noise and sensing noise become comparable and before the sinc function starts to matter; between approxi-

mately 3 mHz and 30 mHz in this generic LISA-like sensitivity curve. Pushing this range to lower (higher) frequencies requires to lengthen (shorten) the arms and, as long as all other basic parameters – laser power, telescope diameter, and laser wave-length – stay the same and sensing noise is dominated by shot noise, both curves move to the left (right) without changing their relative position.

For shorter arms the received laser power increases and the shot noise limit will decrease. As shown in equations 1.3 and 1.5, a shorter wavelength improves the displacement sensitivity for the same phase sensitivity. The light is also better collimated and the amount of received light increases. However, as every photon is also more energetic, the number of received photons only increases linearly with the inverse wavelength and not quadratically. Therefore the sensitivity scales with $\lambda^{-3/2}$ if the laser power stays the same. Increases in the laser power without changing the wavelength improves the sensitivity with \sqrt{P} while the diameter D of the telescope enters quadratically. Future mission proposals which plan to take advantage of the lower shot noise have to assume that the technology progresses enough that the interferometer measurement system continues to be limited by it and not by technical noise. While this seems to be overly optimistic, many technical noise sources are driven by temperature changes which will be significantly smaller at higher frequencies. The shorter arms will also reduce the dynamics within the constellation which reduces the Doppler shifts and potentially reduces the beat frequencies and the timing requirements within the phasemeter.

It is expected that significant improvements in acceleration noise beyond what is shown in equation 1.10 are more likely at higher frequencies than at lower frequencies. The reason is again temperature which rises faster than f^{-2} towards lower frequencies and residual spacecraft motion which couples gravitationally to the test mass and is also expected to be smaller at higher frequencies. Also voltage noise in actuators and capacitive sensors improves at higher frequencies while frequency independent noise sources typically scale with somewhat controllable environmental parameters such as pressure and absolute temperature. Many forces scale with the surface and not the volume of the test mass and can be reduced by increasing the mass of the test mass itself. Interferometric readouts can be significantly more sensitive than capacitive readouts. Employing those for all degrees of freedom would improve our ability to measure, calibrate and subtract spacecraft motion.

The ambitious goals spelled out in these proposals require a broad range of technical improvements across several decades in frequency space. They will not be easy to reach but that has always been the case and compared to 30 years ago, the community has a much better understanding of the challenges ahead of them.

In the context of future mission proposals, DECIGO plays a somewhat special role [150]. It targets the 0.1 to 10 Hz frequency range with a total of twelve spacecrafts to form four equilateral triangular clusters. All clusters are placed in a heliocentric orbit, the center of two of them are collocated but rotated by 60° deg with respect to each other. The others are placed 120°deg offset in heliocentric orbits as shown in figure 1.17. The Japanese project plans to form 10^{6} m long optical cavities between free falling 1 m diameter mirrors. The higher measurement frequency allows the application of forces to the mirrors at lower frequencies that can be used for station keeping to keep the cavities on resonance with their interrogating laser beams. For this reason, DECIGO is often seen as a mission which brings groundbased technologies to space which might be needed for orders of magnitude improvements in displacement sensitivity.



Fig. 1.17 DECIGO is one of the most ambitious proposed future missions. It uses twelve spacecrafts which form four equilateral triangular clusters. Two clusters are collocated in their heliocentric orbits while the two others are distributed around the sun as shown on the left. The right graph shows a conceptual design of a single constellation in which each arm is defined by two mirrors forming an optical cavity [150].

A last mission which we want to mention here is known as the Folkner mission [118] which was proposed to NASA during the SGO studies [133] six years prior to the LPF launch. In this mission, the three spacecrafts are placed in heliocentric orbits separated by 120° deg, similar to the locations of the DECIGO clusters. The arm length of 250 Gm was expected to compensate for increased acceleration noise should LPF fail. Since LPF was successful and a similar GRS could be used for the Folkner mission, the entire sensitivity curve would (ideally) be shifted to the left and probe frequencies 100 times lower than current LISA. A similar proposal, μ Ares, was submitted to the Voyage 2050 call [203]. These missions would bridge the gap between pulsar timing and LISA for super-massive black hole mergers. Galactic ultra-compact binaries are also expected to create a gravitational wave background in this frequency range which such missions could study, but this background would somewhat limit the distance to which massive black hole binaries could be resolved.

1.7 Cross-References to other chapters in the Handbook of Gravitational Wave Astronomy

This chapter describes space-based interferometers following mostly the LISA design. While the measurement principle, laser interferometry between free-falling macroscopic test masses, is similar to the principle used for ground-based interferometers which are described in the chapter *Terrestrial Laser Interferometers*, the long arms together with celestial dynamics and the space environment require vastly different approaches and technologies. A somewhat different approach for ground 1 Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

and space-based observatories is described in the chapter *Atom Interferometer*. This chapter also gives an overview of the signals that will be discovered and the science that will be enabled by LISA. More details on sources for space-based gravitational wave detectors can be found in the chapters on *The gravitational capture of compact objects by massive black holes* (EMRIs), *Supermassive black hole mergers*, *LISA and the Galactic Population of Compact Binaries* and *Stochastic gravitational wave backgrounds of cosmological origin*. More details on the tests of fundamental physics that will be facilitated by space-based gravitational wave detectors can be found in the chapter *Testing the Nature of Dark Compact Objects with Gravitational Waves*. Finally, the analysis of data from space-based gravitational wave detectors will rely on the availability of waveform models, the construction of which is described in the book section *Gravitational wave modeling* and will use some of the techniques described in the chapters in the book section *Data analysis techniques*.

Acknowledgements

We thank Emanuele Berti, Germano Nardini, Gijs Nelemans, Alberto Sesana, Robin T. Stebbins and Marta Volonteri for comments on the manuscript.

References

- Abbott, B., Abbott, R., Abbott, T., Abraham, S., Acernese, F., Ackley, K., Adams, C., Adhikari, R., Adya, V., Affeldt, C., et al.: Gwtc-1: A gravitational-wave transient catalog of compact binary mergers observed by ligo and virgo during the first and second observing runs. Physical Review X 9(3) (2019). DOI 10.1103/physrevx.9.031040. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevX.9.031040
- Abbott, B., Abbott, R., Abbott, T., Abraham, S., Acernese, F., Ackley, K., Adams, C., Adhikari, R., Adya, V., Affeldt, C., et al.: Gwtc-2: Compact binary coalescences observed by ligo and virgo during the first half of the third observing run (2020)
- Abbott, B.P., Abbott, R., Abbott, T.D., Acernese, F., Ackley, K., Adams, C., Adams, T., Addesso, P., Adhikari, R.X., Adya, V.B., et al.: Multi-messenger observations of a binary neutron star merger. The Astrophysical Journal 848(2), L12 (2017). DOI 10.3847/2041-8213/ aa91c9. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/aa91c9
- 4. Abbott, B.P., et al.: Astrophysical implications of the binary black hole merger gw150914. The Astrophysical Journal 818(2), L22 (2016). DOI 10.3847/2041-8205/818/2/122. URL https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8205/818/2/122
- 5. Abbott, B.P., et al.: Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 061102 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.061102. URL https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.061102
- Abbott, B.P., et al.: Tests of general relativity with GW150914. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(22), 221101 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.221101,10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.129902. [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.121,no.12,129902(2018)]
- Abbott, B.P., et al.: A gravitational-wave standard siren measurement of the Hubble constant. Nature 551(7678), 85–88 (2017). DOI 10.1038/nature24471. ArXiv:1710.05835

- Abbott, B.P., et al.: GW170817: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Neutron Star Inspiral. Phys. Rev. Lett. 119(16), 161101 (2017). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.119. 161101. ArXiv:1710.05832
- Abbott, B.P., et al.: A gravitational-wave measurement of the Hubble constant following the second observing run of Advanced LIGO and Virgo (2019). ArXiv:1908.06060
- Abbott, R., Abbott, T., Abraham, S., Acernese, F., Ackley, K., Adams, C., Adhikari, R., Adya, V., Affeldt, C., Agathos, M., et al.: Gw190521: A binary black hole merger with a total masse of 150 m_{Sun}. Physical Review Letters **125**(10) (2020). DOI 10.1103/physrevlett.125.101102. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.101102
- Abbott, R., et al.: Population Properties of Compact Objects from the Second LIGO-Virgo Gravitational-Wave Transient Catalog (2020)
- Abedi, J., Dykaar, H., Afshordi, N.: Echoes from the Abyss: Tentative evidence for Planckscale structure at black hole horizons. Phys. Rev. D96(8), 082004 (2017). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.96.082004
- Adams, M.R., Cornish, N.J., Littenberg, T.B.: Astrophysical model selection in gravitational wave astronomy. Phys. Rev. D 86, 124032 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.124032. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.86.124032
- Aghanim, N., Akrami, Y., Ashdown, M., Aumont, J., Baccigalupi, C., Ballardini, M., Banday, A.J., Barreiro, R.B., Bartolo, N., et al.: Planck 2018 results. Astronomy & Astrophysics 641, A6 (2020). DOI 10.1051/0004-6361/201833910. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1051/0004-6361/201833910
- Alexander, S., Finn, L.S., Yunes, N.: A Gravitational-wave probe of effective quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D78, 066005 (2008). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.78.066005
- Amaro-Seoane, P.: Detecting intermediate-mass ratio inspirals from the ground and space. Phys. Rev. D98(6), 063018 (2018). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.063018
- Amaro-Seoane, P.: Relativistic dynamics and extreme mass ratio inspirals. Living Reviews in Relativity 21(1) (2018). DOI 10.1007/s41114-018-0013-8. URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s41114-018-0013-8
- Amaro-Seoane, P.: Extremely large mass-ratio inspirals. Physical Review D 99(12) (2019). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.99.123025. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.99.123025
- Amaro-Seoane, P., Aoudia, S., Babak, S., Binétruy, P., Berti, E., Bohé, A., Caprini, C., Colpi, M., Cornish, N.J., Danzmann, K., Dufaux, J.F., Gair, J., Jennrich, O., Jetzer, P., Klein, A., Lang, R.N., Lobo, A., Littenberg, T., McWilliams, S.T., Nelemans, G., Petiteau, A., Porter, E.K., Schutz, B.F., Sesana, A., Stebbins, R., Sumner, T., Vallisneri, M., Vitale, S., Volonteri, M., Ward, H.: elisa: Astrophysics and cosmology in the millihertz regime (2012)
- Amaro-Seoane, P., Audley, H., Babak, S., Baker, J., Barausse, E., Bender, P., Berti, E., Binetruy, P., Born, M., Bortoluzzi, D., Camp, J., Caprini, C., Cardoso, V., Colpi, M., Conklin, J., Cornish, N., Cutler, C., Danzmann, K., Dolesi, R., Ferraioli, L., Ferroni, V., Fitzsimons, E., Gair, J., Gesa Bote, L., Giardini, D., Gibert, F., Grimani, C., Halloin, H., Heinzel, G., Hertog, T., Hewitson, M., Holley-Bockelmann, K., Hollington, D., Hueller, M., Inchauspe, H., Jetzer, P., Karnesis, N., Killow, C., Klein, A., Klipstein, B., Korsakova, N., Larson, S.L., Livas, J., Lloro, I., Man, N., Mance, D., Martino, J., Mateos, I., McKenzie, K., McWilliams, S.T., Miller, C., Mueller, G., Nardini, G., Nelemans, G., Nofrarias, M., Petiteau, A., Pivato, P., Plagnol, E., Porter, E., Reiche, J., Robertson, D., Robertson, N., Rossi, E., Russano, G., Schutz, B., Sesana, A., Shoemaker, D., Slutsky, J., Sopuerta, C.F., Sumner, T., Tamanini, N., Thorpe, I., Troebs, M., Vallisneri, M., Vecchio, A., Vetrugno, D., Vitale, S., Volonteri, M., Wanner, G., Ward, H., Wass, P., Weber, W., Ziemer, J., Zweifel, P.: Laser Interferometer Space Antenna. arXiv e-prints arXiv:1702.00786 (2017)
- Amaro-Seoane, P., Gair, J.R., Freitag, M., Miller, M.C., Mandel, I., Cutler, C.J., Babak, S.: Topical Review: Intermediate and extreme mass-ratio inspirals—astrophysics, science applications and detection using LISA. Classical and Quantum Gravity 24(17), R113–R169 (2007). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/24/17/R01

- Amaro-Seoane, P., Preto, M.: The impact of realistic models of mass segregation on the event rate of extreme-mass ratio inspirals and cusp re-growth. Classical and Quantum Gravity 28(9), 094017 (2011). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/28/9/094017
- Antonini, F., Barausse, E., Silk, J.: The coevolution of nuclear star clusters, massive black holes, and their host galaxies. The Astrophysical Journal 812(1), 72 (2015). DOI 10.1088/ 0004-637x/812/1/72. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/812/1/ 72
- Antonini, F., Perets, H.B.: Secular evolution of compact binaries near massive black holes: gravitational wave sources and other exotica. The Astrophysical Journal 757(1), 27 (2012). DOI 10.1088/0004-637x/757/1/27. URL https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0004-637x/757/1/27
- Armano, M., Audley, H., Auger, G., Baird, J., Binetruy, P., Born, M., Bortoluzzi, D., Brandt, N., Bursi, A., Caleno, M., Cavalleri, A., Cesarini, A., Cruise, M., Danzmann, K., Diepholz, I., Dolesi, R., Dunbar, N., Ferraioli, L., Ferroni, V., Fitzsimons, E., Freschi, M., Gallegos, J., García Marirrodriga, C., Gerndt, R., Gesa, L.I., Gibert, F., Giardini, D., Giusteri, R., Grimani, C., Harrison, I., Heinzel, G., Hewitson, M., Hollington, D., Hueller, M., Huesler, J., Inchauspé, H., Jennrich, O., Jetzer, P., Johlander, B., Karnesis, N., Kaune, B., Korsakova, N., Killow, C., Lloro, I., Maarschalkerweerd, R., Madden, S., Mance, D., Martín, V., Martin-Porqueras, F., Mateos, I., McNamara, P., Mendes, J., Mendes, L., Moroni, A., Nofrarias, M., Paczkowski, S., Perreur-Lloyd, M., Petiteau, A., Pivato, P., Plagnol, E., Prat, P., Ragnit, U., Ramos-Castro, J., Reiche, J., Romera Perez, J.A., Robertson, D., Rozemeijer, H., Russano, G., Sarra, P., Schleicher, A., Slutsky, J., Sopuerta, C.F., Sumner, T., Texier, D., Thorpe, J., Trenkel, C., Tu, H.B., Vetrugno, D., Vitale, S., Wanner, G., Ward, H., Waschke, S., Wass, P., Wealthy, D., Wen, S., Weber, W., Wittchen, A., Zanoni, C., Ziegler, T., Zweifel, P.: The LISA Pathfinder Mission. In: Journal of Physics Conference Series, *Journal of Physics Conference Series*, vol. 610, p. 012005 (2015). DOI 10.1088/1742-6596/610/1/012005
- 26. Armano, M., Audley, H., Auger, G., Baird, J.T., Bassan, M., Binetruy, P., Born, M., Bortoluzzi, D., Brandt, N., Caleno, M., Carbone, L., Cavalleri, A., Cesarini, A., Ciani, G., Congedo, G., Cruise, A.M., Danzmann, K., de Deus Silva, M., De Rosa, R., Diaz-Aguiló, M., Di Fiore, L., Diepholz, I., Dixon, G., Dolesi, R., Dunbar, N., Ferraioli, L., Ferroni, V., Fichter, W., Fitzsimons, E.D., Flatscher, R., Freschi, M., García Marín, A.F., García Marirrodriga, C., Gerndt, R., Gesa, L., Gibert, F., Giardini, D., Giusteri, R., Guzmán, F., Grado, A., Grimani, C., Grynagier, A., Grzymisch, J., Harrison, I., Heinzel, G., Hewitson, M., Hollington, D., Hoyland, D., Hueller, M., Inchauspé, H., Jennrich, O., Jetzer, P., Johann, U., Johlander, B., Karnesis, N., Kaune, B., Korsakova, N., Killow, C.J., Lobo, J.A., Lloro, I., Liu, L., López-Zaragoza, J.P., Maarschalkerweerd, R., Mance, D., Martín, V., Martin-Polo, L., Martino, J., Martin-Porqueras, F., Madden, S., Mateos, I., McNamara, P.W., Mendes, J., Mendes, L., Monsky, A., Nicolodi, D., Nofrarias, M., Paczkowski, S., Perreur-Lloyd, M., Petiteau, A., Pivato, P., Plagnol, E., Prat, P., Ragnit, U., Raïs, B., Ramos-Castro, J., Reiche, J., Robertson, D.I., Rozemeijer, H., Rivas, F., Russano, G., Sanjuán, J., Sarra, P., Schleicher, A., Shaul, D., Slutsky, J., Sopuerta, C.F., Stanga, R., Steier, F., Sumner, T., Texier, D., Thorpe, J.I., Trenkel, C., Tröbs, M., Tu, H.B., Vetrugno, D., Vitale, S., Wand, V., Wanner, G., Ward, H., Warren, C., Wass, P.J., Wealthy, D., Weber, W.J., Wissel, L., Wittchen, A., Zambotti, A., Zanoni, C., Ziegler, T., Zweifel, P.: Sub-Femto-g Free Fall for Space-Based Gravitational Wave Observatories: LISA Pathfinder Results. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(23), 231101 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.231101
- 27. Armano, M., Audley, H., Baird, J., Binetruy, P., Born, M., Bortoluzzi, D., Castelli, E., Cavalleri, A., Cesarini, A., Cruise, A.M., Danzmann, K., de Deus Silva, M., Diepholz, I., Dixon, G., Dolesi, R., Ferraioli, L., Ferroni, V., Fitzsimons, E.D., Freschi, M., Gesa, L., Gibert, F., Giardini, D., Giusteri, R., Grimani, C., Grzymisch, J., Harrison, I., Heinzel, G., Hewitson, M., Hollington, D., Hoyland, D., Hueller, M., Inchauspé, H., Jennrich, O., Jetzer, P., Karnesis, N., Kaune, B., Korsakova, N., Killow, C.J., Lobo, J.A., Lloro, I., Liu, L., López-Zaragoza, J.P., Maarschalkerweerd, R., Mance, D., Meshksar, N., Martín, V., Martin-Polo, L., Martino, J., Martin-Porqueras, F., Mateos, I., McNamara, P.W., Mendes, J., Mendes, L., Nofrarias,

¹ Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

M., Paczkowski, S., Perreur-Lloyd, M., Petiteau, A., Pivato, P., Plagnol, E., Ramos-Castro, J., Reiche, J., Robertson, D.I., Rivas, F., Russano, G., Slutsky, J., Sopuerta, C.F., Sumner, T., Texier, D., Thorpe, J.I., Vetrugno, D., Vitale, S., Wanner, G., Ward, H., Wass, P.J., Weber, W.J., Wissel, L., Wittchen, A., Zweifel, P.: Beyond the Required LISA Free-Fall Performance: New LISA Pathfinder Results down to 20 μ Hz. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(6), 061101 (2018). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.061101

- Arun, K.G., Iyer, B.R., Qusailah, M.S.S., Sathyaprakash, B.S.: Testing post-newtonian theory with gravitational wave observations. Classical and Quantum Gravity 23(9), L37–L43 (2006). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/23/9/I01. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/ 0264-9381/23/9/L01
- Auclair, P., et al.: Probing the gravitational wave background from cosmic strings with LISA. JCAP 04, 034 (2020). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/04/034
- Babak, S.: "Enchilada" is back on the menu. In: Journal of Physics Conference Series, Journal of Physics Conference Series, vol. 840, p. 012026 (2017). DOI 10.1088/1742-6596/ 840/1/012026
- Babak, S., Baker, J.G., Benacquista, M.J., Cornish, N.J., Crowder, J., Larson, S.L., Plagnol, E., Porter, E.K., Vallisneri, M., Vecchio, A., Data Challenge Task Force, T.M.L., Arnaud, K., Barack, L., Błaut, A., Cutler, C., Fairhurst, S., Gair, J., Gong, X., Harry, I., Khurana, D., Królak, A., Mandel, I., Prix, R., Sathyaprakash, B.S., Savov, P., Shang, Y., Trias, M., Veitch, J., Wang, Y., Wen, L., Whelan, J.T., Challenge-1B participants, t.: The Mock LISA Data Challenges: from Challenge 1B to Challenge 3. Classical and Quantum Gravity 25(18), 184026 (2008). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/25/18/184026
- 32. Babak, S., Baker, J.G., Benacquista, M.J., Cornish, N.J., Larson, S.L., Mandel, I., McWilliams, S.T., Petiteau, A., Porter, E.K., Robinson, E.L., Vallisneri, M., Vecchio, A., Data Challenge Task Force, t.M.L., Adams, M., Arnaud, K.A., Błaut, A., Bridges, M., Cohen, M., Cutler, C., Feroz, F., Gair, J.R., Graff, P., Hobson, M., Shapiro Key, J., Królak, A., Lasenby, A., Prix, R., Shang, Y., Trias, M., Veitch, J., Whelan, J.T., participants, t.C..: The Mock LISA Data Challenges: from challenge 3 to challenge 4. Classical and Quantum Gravity 27(8), 084009 (2010). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/27/8/084009
- Babak, S., Gair, J., Sesana, A., Barausse, E., Sopuerta, C.F., Berry, C.P.L., Berti, E., Amaro-Seoane, P., Petiteau, A., Klein, A.: Science with the space-based interferometer LISA. V: Extreme mass-ratio inspirals. Phys. Rev. D95(10), 103012 (2017). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD. 95.103012
- Babak, S., Gair, J.R., Porter, E.K.: An algorithm for the detection of extreme mass ratio inspirals in LISA data. Classical and Quantum Gravity 26(13), 135004 (2009). DOI 10. 1088/0264-9381/26/13/135004
- Baghi, Q., Thorpe, J.I., Slutsky, J., Baker, J.: A statistical inference approach to time-delay interferometry for gravitational-wave detection. arXiv e-prints arXiv:2010.07224 (2020)
- 36. Baibhav, V., Barack, L., Berti, E., Bonga, B., Brito, R., Cardoso, V., Compère, G., Das, S., Doneva, D., Garcia-Bellido, J., Heisenberg, L., Hughes, S.A., Isi, M., Jani, K., Kavanagh, C., Lukes-Gerakopoulos, G., Mueller, G., Pani, P., Petiteau, A., Rajendran, S., Sotiriou, T.P., Stergioulas, N., Taylor, A., Vagenas, E., van de Meent, M., Warburton, N., Wardell, B., Witzany, V., Zimmerman, A.: Probing the nature of black holes: Deep in the mhz gravitational-wave sky (2019)
- 37. Baker, J., Baker, T., Carbone, C., Congedo, G., Contaldi, C., Dvorkin, I., Gair, J., Haiman, Z., Mota, D.F., Renzini, A., Buis, E.J., Cusin, G., Ezquiaga, J.M., Mueller, G., Pieroni, M., Quenby, J., Ricciardone, A., Saltas, I.D., Shao, L., Tamanini, N., Tasinato, G., Zumalacárregui, M.: High angular resolution gravitational wave astronomy. arXiv e-prints arXiv:1908.11410 (2019)
- Barack, L., Cutler, C.: Confusion noise from lisa capture sources. Phys. Rev. D 70, 122002 (2004). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.70.122002. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.70.122002
- Barack, L., Cutler, C.: Lisa capture sources: Approximate waveforms, signal-to-noise ratios, and parameter estimation accuracy. Physical Review D 69(8) (2004). DOI 10.1103/physrevd. 69.082005. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.69.082005

- Barack, L., Cutler, C.: Using LISA EMRI sources to test off-Kerr deviations in the geometry of massive black holes. Phys. Rev. D75, 042003 (2007). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.75.042003
- Barack, L., et al.: Black holes, gravitational waves and fundamental physics: a roadmap. Class. Quant. Grav. 36(14), 143001 (2019). DOI 10.1088/1361-6382/ab0587
- Barausse, E., Cardoso, V., Pani, P.: Can environmental effects spoil precision gravitationalwave astrophysics? Physical Review D 89(10) (2014). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.89.104059. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.89.104059
- Barausse, E., Yunes, N., Chamberlain, K.: Theory-agnostic constraints on black-hole dipole radiation with multiband gravitational-wave astrophysics. Physical Review Letters 116(24) (2016). DOI 10.1103/physrevlett.116.241104. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.116.241104
- Barke, S., Tröbs, M., Sheard, B., Heinzel, G., Danzmann, K.: Phase noise contribution of EOMs and HF cables. In: Journal of Physics Conference Series, *Journal of Physics Conference Series*, vol. 154, p. 012006 (2009). DOI 10.1088/1742-6596/154/1/012006
- Bartolo, N., et al.: Science with the space-based interferometer LISA. IV: Probing inflation with gravitational waves. JCAP 12, 026 (2016). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2016/12/026
- 46. Bayle, J.B.: Simulation and data analysis for lisa : Instrumental modeling, time-delay interferometry, noise-reduction permormance study, and discrimination of transient gravitational signals. Ph.D. thesis, Université de Paris (2019). URL http://www.theses.fr/2019UNIP7123
- Bayle, J.B., Lilley, M., Petiteau, A., Halloin, H.: Effect of filters on the time-delay interferometry residual laser noise for LISA. Phys. Rev. D 99(8), 084023 (2019). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.99.084023
- Bender, P.L., Begelman, M.C., Gair, J.R.: Possible LISA follow-on mission scientific objectives. Classical and Quantum Gravity 30(16), 165017 (2013). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/30/ 16/165017
- Bender, P. L. and Begelman, M. C.: Trends in Space Science and Cosmic Vision 2020 (ESA SP-588). Tech. rep., ESA Publications Division (2005)
- Berry, C.P.L., Gair, J.R.: Observing the galaxy's massive black hole with gravitational wave bursts. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 429(1), 589–612 (2012). DOI 10.1093/mnras/sts360. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/sts360
- Berry, C.P.L., Gair, J.R.: Extreme-mass-ratio-bursts from extragalactic sources. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 433(4), 3572–3583 (2013). DOI 10.1093/mnras/ stt990. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stt990
- 52. Berti, E., Barausse, E., Cardoso, V., Gualtieri, L., Pani, P., Sperhake, U., Stein, L.C., Wex, N., Yagi, K., Baker, T., et al.: Testing general relativity with present and future astrophysical observations. Classical and Quantum Gravity 32(24), 243001 (2015). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/32/24/243001. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/32/24/243001
- Berti, E., Buonanno, A., Will, C.M.: Estimating spinning binary parameters and testing alternative theories of gravity with LISA. Phys. Rev. D71, 084025 (2005). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.71.084025
- Berti, E., Cardoso, V., Will, C.M.: Gravitational-wave spectroscopy of massive black holes with the space interferometer lisa. Physical Review D 73(6) (2006). DOI 10.1103/physrevd. 73.064030. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.73.064030
- Berti, E., Sesana, A., Barausse, E., Cardoso, V., Belczynski, K.: Spectroscopy of kerr black holes with earth- and space-based interferometers. Physical Review Letters 117(10) (2016). DOI 10.1103/physrevlett.117.101102. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.117.101102
- 56. Berti, E., Volonteri, M.: Cosmological black hole spin evolution by mergers and accretion. The Astrophysical Journal 684(2), 822–828 (2008). DOI 10.1086/590379. URL https: //doi.org/10.1086/590379
- Berti, E., Yagi, K., Yang, H., Yunes, N.: Extreme Gravity Tests with Gravitational Waves from Compact Binary Coalescences: (II) Ringdown. Gen. Rel. Grav. 50(5), 49 (2018). DOI 10.1007/s10714-018-2372-6

¹ Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

- Berti, E., Yagi, K., Yunes, N.: Extreme Gravity Tests with Gravitational Waves from Compact Binary Coalescences: (I) Inspiral-Merger. Gen. Rel. Grav. 50(4), 46 (2018). DOI 10.1007/ s10714-018-2362-8
- Berti, E., Yagi, K., Yunes, N.: Extreme gravity tests with gravitational waves from compact binary coalescences: (i) inspiral-merger. General Relativity and Gravitation 50(4) (2018). DOI 10.1007/s10714-018-2362-8. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10714-018-2362-8
- 60. Binétruy, P., Bohé, A., Caprini, C., Dufaux, J.F.: Cosmological backgrounds of gravitational waves and elisa/ngo: phase transitions, cosmic strings and other sources. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics 2012(06), 027–027 (2012). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2012/06/027. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2012/06/027
- Błaut, A., Babak, S., Królak, A.: Mock LISA data challenge for the Galactic white dwarf binaries. Phys. Rev. D 81(6), 063008 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.063008
- Blelly, A., Moutarde, H., Bobin, J.: Sparsity-based recovery of Galactic-binary gravitational waves. Phys. Rev. D 102(10), 104053 (2020). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.102.104053
- Bonetti, M., Sesana, A.: Gravitational wave background from extreme mass ratio inspirals. Physical Review D 102(10) (2020). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.102.103023. URL http:// dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.103023
- Bonetti, M., Sesana, A., Haardt, F., Barausse, E., Colpi, M.: Post-Newtonian evolution of massive black hole triplets in galactic nuclei - IV. Implications for LISA. MNRAS486(3), 4044–4060 (2019). DOI 10.1093/mnras/stz903
- Breivik, K., Rodriguez, C.L., Larson, S.L., Kalogera, V., Rasio, F.A.: Distinguishing between Formation Channels for Binary Black Holes with LISA. ApJ830(1), L18 (2016). DOI 10.3847/2041-8205/830/1/L18
- Brito, R., Cardoso, V., Pani, P.: Superradiance. Lect. Notes Phys. 906, pp.1–237 (2015). DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-19000-6
- Brito, R., Ghosh, S., Barausse, E., Berti, E., Cardoso, V., Dvorkin, I., Klein, A., Pani, P.: Gravitational wave searches for ultralight bosons with ligo and lisa. Physical Review D 96(6) (2017). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.96.064050. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.96.064050
- Brito, R., Ghosh, S., Barausse, E., Berti, E., Cardoso, V., Dvorkin, I., Klein, A., Pani, P.: Stochastic and resolvable gravitational waves from ultralight bosons. Physical Review Letters 119(13) (2017). DOI 10.1103/physrevlett.119.131101. URL http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.131101
- Bromm, V., Coppi, P.S., Larson, R.B.: Forming the First Stars in the Universe: The Fragmentation of Primordial Gas. ApJ527(1), L5–L8 (1999). DOI 10.1086/312385
- Bromm, V., Loeb, A.: Formation of the First Supermassive Black Holes. ApJ596(1), 34–46 (2003). DOI 10.1086/377529
- Brustein, R., Gasperini, M., Giovannini, M., Veneziano, G.: Relic gravitational waves from string cosmology. Physics Letters B 361(1), 45 – 51 (1995). DOI https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0370-2693(95)01128-D
- Buonanno, A., Maggiore, M., Ungarelli, C.: Spectrum of relic gravitational waves in string cosmology. Physical Review D 55(6), 3330–3336 (1997). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.55.3330
- Burke, O., Gair, J.R., Simón, J., Edwards, M.C.: Constraining the spin parameter of nearextremal black holes using lisa. Physical Review D 102(12) (2020). DOI 10.1103/physrevd. 102.124054. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102.124054
- Canizares, P., Gair, J.R., Sopuerta, C.F.: Testing chern-simons modified gravity with gravitational-wave detections of extreme-mass-ratio binaries. Phys. Rev. D 86, 044010 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.044010. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.044010
- Caprini, C., Figueroa, D.G., Flauger, R., Nardini, G., Peloso, M., Pieroni, M., Ricciardone, A., Tasinato, G.: Reconstructing the spectral shape of a stochastic gravitational wave background with LISA. JCAP 11, 017 (2019). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2019/11/017

64

- 76. Caprini, C., Hindmarsh, M., Huber, S., Konstandin, T., Kozaczuk, J., Nardini, G., No, J.M., Petiteau, A., Schwaller, P., Servant, G., et al.: Science with the space-based interferometer elisa. ii: gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics **2016**(04), 001–001 (2016). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2016/04/001. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2016/04/001
- Caprini, C., et al.: Science with the space-based interferometer eLISA. II: Gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions. JCAP 04, 001 (2016). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/ 2016/04/001
- Caprini, C., et al.: Detecting gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions with LISA: an update. JCAP 03, 024 (2020). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2020/03/024
- Cardoso, V., Gualtieri, L., Moore, C.J.: Gravitational waves and higher dimensions: Love numbers and Kaluza-Klein excitations. Phys. Rev. D100(12), 124037 (2019). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.100.124037
- Cardoso, V., Hopper, S., Macedo, C.F.B., Palenzuela, C., Pani, P.: Gravitational-wave signatures of exotic compact objects and of quantum corrections at the horizon scale. Phys. Rev. D94(8), 084031 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.94.084031
- Cardoso, V., Kimura, M., Maselli, A., Berti, E., Macedo, C.F., McManus, R.: Parametrized black hole quasinormal ringdown: Decoupled equations for nonrotating black holes. Physical Review D 99(10) (2019). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.99.104077. URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99.104077
- Cardoso, V., Pani, P.: Testing the nature of dark compact objects: a status report. Living Rev. Rel. 22(1), 4 (2019). DOI 10.1007/s41114-019-0020-4
- Carson, Z., Yagi, K.: Parametrized and inspiral-merger-ringdown consistency tests of gravity with multiband gravitational wave observations. Physical Review D 101(4) (2020). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.101.044047. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 101.044047
- Cavalleri, A., Ciani, G., Dolesi, R., Heptonstall, A., Hueller, M., Nicolodi, D., Rowan, S., Tombolato, D., Vitale, S., Wass, P.J., Weber, W.J.: Increased Brownian Force Noise from Molecular Impacts in a Constrained Volume. Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**(14), 140601 (2009). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.140601
- Chwalla, M., Danzmann, K., Álvarez, M.D., Delgado, J.J.E., Fernández Barranco, G., Fitzsimons, E., Gerberding, O., Heinzel, G., Killow, C.J., Lieser, M., Perreur-Lloyd, M., Robertson, D.I., Rohr, J.M., Schuster, S., Schwarze, T.S., Tröbs, M., Wanner, G., Ward, H.: Optical Suppression of Tilt-to-Length Coupling in the LISA Long-Arm Interferometer. Physical Review Applied 14(1), 014030 (2020). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevApplied.14.014030
- Coe, D., Zitrin, A., Carrasco, M., Shu, X., Zheng, W., Postman, M., Bradley, L., Koekemoer, A., Bouwens, R., Broadhurst, T., Monna, A., Host, O., Moustakas, L.A., Ford, H., Moustakas, J., van der Wel, A., Donahue, M., Rodney, S.A., Benítez, N., Jouvel, S., Seitz, S., Kelson, D.D., Rosati, P.: CLASH: Three Strongly Lensed Images of a Candidate z ≈ 11 Galaxy. ApJ**762**(1), 32 (2013). DOI 10.1088/0004-637X/762/1/32
- Collins, N.A., Hughes, S.A.: Towards a formalism for mapping the spacetimes of massive compact objects: Bumpy black holes and their orbits. Physical Review D 69(12) (2004). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.69.124022. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.69.124022
- Community White Papers: Astro2020 Decadal Survey on Astronomy and Astrophysics. Tech. rep., NASA (2019). https://baas.aas.org/astro2020-apc
- 89. Community White Papers: VOYAGE 2050 LONG-TERM PLANNING OF THE ESA SCI-ENCE PROGRAMME. Tech. rep., ESA (2019). https://www.cosmos.esa.int/ web/voyage-2050/white-papers
- 90. Conklin, J.W., Buchman, S., Aguero, V., Alfauwaz, A., Aljadaan, A., Almajed, M., Altwaijry, H., Al-Saud, T., Balakrishnan, K., Byer, R.L., Bower, K., Costello, B., Cutler, G.D., DeBra, D.B., Faied, D.M., Foster, C., Genova, A.L., Hanson, J., Hooper, K., Hultgren, E., Jaroux, B., Klavins, A., Lantz, B., Lipa, J.A., Palmer, A., Plante, B., Sanchez, H.S., Saraf, S., Schaechter, D., Sherrill, T., Shu, K.L., Smith, E., Tenerelli, D., Vanbezooijen, R., Vasudevan,

¹ Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

G., Williams, S.D., Worden, S.P., Zhou, J., Zoellner, A.: LAGRANGE: LAser GRavitationalwave ANtenna at GEo-lunar Lagrange points. arXiv e-prints arXiv:1111.5264 (2011)

- 91. Copeland, E.J., Myers, R.C., Polchinski, J.: Cosmic f- and d-strings. Journal of High Energy Physics 2004(06), 013–013 (2004). DOI 10.1088/1126-6708/2004/06/013. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2004/06/013
- 92. Cornish, N., Sampson, L., Yunes, N., Pretorius, F.: Gravitational wave tests of general relativity with the parameterized post-einsteinian framework. Phys. Rev. D 84, 062003 (2011). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.84.062003. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.84.062003
- Cornish, N.J., Porter, E.K.: The search for massive black hole binaries with LISA. Classical and Quantum Gravity 24(23), 5729–5755 (2007). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/24/23/001
- Crowder, J., Cornish, N., Reddinger, L.: Darwin's Design: Genetic Algorithms and Likelihood Surfaces in LISA Data Analysis. In: APS April Meeting Abstracts, APS Meeting Abstracts, p. P11.004 (2006)
- Crowder, J., Cornish, N.J.: Beyond LISA: Exploring future gravitational wave missions. Phys. Rev. D 72(8), 083005 (2005). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.72.083005
- Danzmann, K. and al.: LISA Proposal for a Laser-Interferometric Gravitational Wave Detector in Space. Tech. rep., Max-Planck-Institut fur Quantenoptik, Report (1993)
- 97. Danzmann, K. and al.: LISA: Laser Interferometer Space Antenna for the detection and observation of gravitational waves Pre-Phase A Report. Tech. rep., ESA (1998). http: //www2.mpq.mpg.de/\$\sim\$ros/lisa/ppa2.09.pdf
- Davies, M.B., King, A.: The stars of the galactic center. The Astrophysical Journal 624(1), L25-L27 (2005). DOI 10.1086/430308. URL https://doi.org/10.1086/430308
- de Vine, G., Ware, B., McKenzie, K., Spero, R.E., Klipstein, W.M., Shaddock, D.A.: Experimental Demonstration of Time-Delay Interferometry for the Laser Interferometer Space Antenna. Phys. Rev. Lett. 104(21), 211103 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.104.211103
- Decher, R., Randall, J.L., Bender, P.L., Faller, J.E.: Design aspects of a laser gravitational wave detector in space. In: J. Cuneo W. J. (ed.) Active optical devices and applications, *Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series*, vol. 228, pp. 149–153 (1980). DOI 10.1117/12.958779
- Del Pozzo, W., Sesana, A., Klein, A.: Stellar binary black holes in the LISA band: a new class of standard sirens. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 475(3), 3485–3492 (2018). DOI 10.1093/mnras/sty057
- 102. Devecchi, B., Volonteri, M., Rossi, E.M., Colpi, M., Portegies Zwart, S.: High-redshift formation and evolution of central massive objects II. The census of BH seeds. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 421(2), 1465–1475 (2012). DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.20406.x. URL https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.20406.x
- Dhurandhar, S.V., Nayak, K.R., Vinet, J.Y.: Algebraic approach to time-delay data analysis for LISA. Phys. Rev. D 65(10), 102002 (2002). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.65.102002
- 104. Dolgov, A.D., Grasso, D., Nicolis, A.: Relic backgrounds of gravitational waves from cosmic turbulence. Phys. Rev. D 66, 103505 (2002). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.66.103505. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.66.103505
- Du, Y., Tahura, S., Vaman, D., Yagi, K.: Probing Compactified Extra Dimensions with Gravitational Waves (2020)
- 106. Easther, R., Lim, E.A.: Stochastic gravitational wave production after inflation. Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics 2006(04), 010–010 (2006). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/ 2006/04/010. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2006/04/010
- 107. El-Neaj, Y.A., Alpigiani, C., Amairi-Pyka, S., Araújo, H., Balaž, A., Bassi, A., Bathe-Peters, L., Battelier, B., Belić, A., Bentine, E., et al.: Aedge: Atomic experiment for dark matter and gravity exploration in space. EPJ Quantum Technology 7(1) (2020). DOI 10.1140/epjqt/s40507-020-0080-0. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1140/epjqt/s40507-020-0080-0

- 108. ESA GOAT Committee: The ESA-L3 Gravitational Wave Mission-GOAT Report. Tech. rep., ESA (2016). https://www.cosmos. esa.int/documents/427239/653121/goat-final-rev1.pdf/ 5b27a845-1948-4cle-9e38-67bf7156dfe4
- Evans, C.R., Iben Icko, J., Smarr, L.: Degenerate Dwarf Binaries as Promising, Detectable Sources of Gravitational Radiation. ApJ323, 129 (1987). DOI 10.1086/165812
- Faller, J.E., Bender, P.L.: A possible laser gravitational wave experiment in space. In: Precision Measurement and Fundamental Constants II, pp. 689–690 (1984)
- 111. Farr, W.M., Fishbach, M., Ye, J., Holz, D.: A Future Percent-Level Measurement of the Hubble Expansion at Redshift 0.8 With Advanced LIGO. Astrophys. J. Lett. 883, L42 (2019). DOI 10.3847/2041-8213/ab4284. ArXiv:1908.09084
- 112. Favata, M.: Nonlinear gravitational-wave memory from binary black hole mergers. The Astrophysical Journal 696(2), L159–L162 (2009). DOI 10.1088/0004-637x/696/2/1159. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/696/2/L159
- 113. Felder, G.N., Kofman, L.: Nonlinear inflaton fragmentation after preheating. Physical Review D 75(4) (2007). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.75.043518. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.75.043518
- 114. Fishbach, M., et al.: A Standard Siren Measurement of the Hubble Constant from GW170817 without the Electromagnetic Counterpart. Astrophys. J. 871(1), L13 (2019). DOI 10.3847/ 2041-8213/aaf96e. ArXiv:1807.05667
- Flanagan, E.E., Hughes, S.A.: Measuring gravitational waves from binary black hole coalescences. i. signal to noise for inspiral, merger, and ringdown. Physical Review D 57(8), 4535–4565 (1998). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.57.4535. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.57.4535
- Flauger, R., Karnesis, N., Nardini, G., Pieroni, M., Ricciardone, A., Torrado, J.: Improved reconstruction of a stochastic gravitational wave background with LISA. JCAP 01, 059 (2021). DOI 10.1088/1475-7516/2021/01/059
- 117. Folkner, W.M., Hechler, F., Sweetser, T.H., Vincent, M.A., Bender, P.L.: LISA orbit selection and stability. Classical and Quantum Gravity 14(6), 1405–1410 (1997). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/14/6/003
- 118. Folkner W. M.: A non-drag-free gravitational wave mission architecture. Tech. rep., A mission concept white paper submitted to NASA SGO Study (2011). https://pcos.gsfc.nasa.gov/studies/rfi/GWRFI-0003-Folkner.pdf
- Gair, J.R.: The black hole symphony: probing new physics using gravitational waves. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series A 366(1884), 4365–4379 (2008). DOI 10.1098/rsta.2008.0170
- 120. Gair, J.R., Barack, L., Creighton, T., Cutler, C., Larson, S.L., Phinney, E.S., Vallisneri, M.: Event rate estimates for lisa extreme mass ratio capture sources. Classical and Quantum Gravity 21(20), S1595–S1606 (2004). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/21/20/003. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/21/20/003
- 121. Gair, J.R., Feroz, F., Babak, S., Graff, P., Hobson, M.P., Petiteau, A., Porter, E.K.: Nested sampling as a tool for LISA data analysis. In: Journal of Physics Conference Series, *Journal* of Physics Conference Series, vol. 228, p. 012010 (2010). DOI 10.1088/1742-6596/228/1/ 012010
- 122. Gair, J.R., Li, C., Mandel, I.: Observable properties of orbits in exact bumpy spacetimes. Physical Review D 77(2) (2008). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.77.024035. URL http://dx. doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.77.024035
- 123. Gair, J.R., Mandel, I., Miller, M.C., Volonteri, M.: Exploring intermediate and massive blackhole binaries with the einstein telescope. General Relativity and Gravitation 43(2), 485–518 (2010). DOI 10.1007/s10714-010-1104-3. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s10714-010-1104-3
- 124. Gair, J.R., Tang, C., Volonteri, M.: Lisa extreme-mass-ratio inspiral events as probes of the black hole mass function. Phys. Rev. D 81, 104014 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.81. 104014. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.81.104014

- 125. Gair, J.R., Vallisneri, M., Larson, S.L., Baker, J.G.: Testing general relativity with low-frequency, space-based gravitational-wave detectors. Living Reviews in Relativity 16(1) (2013). DOI 10.12942/lrr-2013-7. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.12942/ lrr-2013-7
- 126. Gerberding, O., Diekmann, C., Kullmann, J., Tröbs, M., Bykov, I., Barke, S., Brause, N.C., Esteban Delgado, J.J., Schwarze, T.S., Reiche, J., Danzmann, K., Rasmussen, T., Hansen, T.V., Enggaard, A., Pedersen, S.M., Jennrich, O., Suess, M., Sodnik, Z., Heinzel, G.: Readout for intersatellite laser interferometry: Measuring low frequency phase fluctuations of high-frequency signals with microradian precision. Review of Scientific Instruments 86(7), 074501 (2015). DOI 10.1063/1.4927071
- 127. Gerosa, D., Ma, S., Wong, K.W.K., Berti, E., O'Shaughnessy, R., Chen, Y., Belczynski, K.: Multiband gravitational-wave event rates and stellar physics. Phys. Rev. D99(10), 103004 (2019). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.99.103004
- 128. Ghez, A.M., Salim, S., Weinberg, N.N., Lu, J.R., Do, T., Dunn, J.K., Matthews, K., Morris, M.R., Yelda, S., Becklin, E.E., Kremenek, T., Milosavljevic, M., Naiman, J.: Measuring Distance and Properties of the Milky Way's Central Supermassive Black Hole with Stellar Orbits. ApJ689(2), 1044–1062 (2008). DOI 10.1086/592738
- 129. Ghosh, A., Johnson-Mcdaniel, N.K., Ghosh, A., Mishra, C.K., Ajith, P., Del Pozzo, W., Berry, C.P.L., Nielsen, A.B., London, L.: Testing general relativity using gravitational wave signals from the inspiral, merger and ringdown of binary black holes. Class. Quant. Grav. 35(1), 014002 (2018). DOI 10.1088/1361-6382/aa972e
- Gillessen, S., Eisenhauer, F., Trippe, S., Alexander, T., Genzel, R., Martins, F., Ott, T.: Monitoring Stellar Orbits Around the Massive Black Hole in the Galactic Center. ApJ692(2), 1075–1109 (2009). DOI 10.1088/0004-637X/692/2/1075
- 131. Glampedakis, K., Babak, S.: Mapping spacetimes with lisa: inspiral of a test body in a "quasi-kerr" field. Classical and Quantum Gravity 23(12), 4167–4188 (2006). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/23/12/013. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/ 23/12/013
- 132. Gnocchi, G., Maselli, A., Abdelsalhin, T., Giacobbo, N., Mapelli, M.: Bounding alternative theories of gravity with multiband gw observations. Physical Review D 100(6) (2019). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.100.064024. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 100.064024
- 133. Gravitational-Wave Community Science Team and Gravitational-Wave Core Team and Gravitational-Wave Science Task Force: Gravitational-Wave Mission Concept Study - Final Report. Tech. rep., NASA (2012). https://pcos.gsfc.nasa.gov/physpag/ GW_Study_Rev3_Aug2012-Final.pdf
- 134. Greene, J.E., Strader, J., Ho, L.C.: Intermediate-mass black holes. Annual Review of Astronomy and Astrophysics 58(1), 257–312 (2020). DOI 10.1146/annurev-astro-032620-021835. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-astro-032620-021835
- 135. Grote, H., Stadnik, Y.V.: Novel signatures of dark matter in laser-interferometric gravitational-wave detectors. Phys. Rev. Research. 1, 033187 (2019). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevResearch.1.033187
- Hansen, D., Yunes, N., Yagi, K.: Projected Constraints on Lorentz-Violating Gravity with Gravitational Waves. Phys. Rev. D91(8), 082003 (2015). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.91.082003
- Hartwig, O., Bayle, J.B.: Clock-jitter reduction in LISA time-delay interferometry combinations. arXiv e-prints arXiv:2005.02430 (2020)
- Heckman, T.M., Best, P.N.: The Coevolution of Galaxies and Supermassive Black Holes: Insights from Surveys of the Contemporary Universe. ARA&A52, 589–660 (2014). DOI 10.1146/annurev-astro-081913-035722
- 139. Hellings, R.: SAGITTARIUS. Tech. rep., ESA M3 Proposal (1993)
- 140. Hellings, Ron and Larson, Shane and Jensen, Scott and Fisher, Chad and Benacquista, Matt and Cornish, Neil and Lang, Ryan: A low-cost, high-performance space gravitational astronomy mission. Tech. rep., A mission concept white paper submitted to NASA SGO Study (1998). https://pcos.gsfc.nasa.gov/studies/rfi/ GWRFI-0007-Hellings.pdf

- Hils, D., Bender, P.L.: Gradual Approach to Coalescence for Compact Stars Orbiting Massive Black Holes. ApJ445, L7 (1995). DOI 10.1086/187876
- Hils, D., Bender, P.L., Webbink, R.F.: Gravitational Radiation from the Galaxy. ApJ360, 75 (1990). DOI 10.1086/169098
- Hogan, C.J.: Gravitational radiation from cosmological phase transitions. MNRAS218, 629– 636 (1986). DOI 10.1093/mnras/218.4.629
- Hogan, C.J.: Gravitational waves from mesoscopic dynamics of the extra dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 2044–2047 (2000). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.2044
- Hu, W.R., Wu, Y.L.: The Taiji Program in Space for gravitational wave physics and the nature of gravity. Natl. Sci. Rev. 4(5), 685–686 (2017). DOI 10.1093/nsr/nwx116
- 146. Isleif, K.S., Bischof, L., Ast, S., Penkert, D., Schwarze, T.S., Fernández Barranco, G., Zwetz, M., Veith, S., Hennig, J.S., Tröbs, M., Reiche, J., Gerberding, O., Danzmann, K., Heinzel, G.: Towards the LISA backlink: experiment design for comparing optical phase reference distribution systems. Classical and Quantum Gravity 35(8), 085009 (2018). DOI 10.1088/1361-6382/aaa879
- Islo, K., Simon, J., Burke-Spolaor, S., Siemens, X.: Prospects for Memory Detection with Low-Frequency Gravitational Wave Detectors. arXiv e-prints arXiv:1906.11936 (2019)
- 148. Ivanova, N., Justham, S., Chen, X., De Marco, O., Fryer, C.L., Gaburov, E., Ge, H., Glebbeek, E., Han, Z., Li, X.D., Lu, G., Marsh, T., Podsiadlowski, P., Potter, A., Soker, N., Taam, R., Tauris, T.M., van den Heuvel, E.P.J., Webbink, R.F.: Common envelope evolution: where we stand and how we can move forward. A&A Rev.21, 59 (2013). DOI 10.1007/s00159-013-0059-2
- Karnesis, N., Lilley, M., Petiteau, A.: Assessing the detectability of a stochastic gravitational wave background with LISA, using an excess of power approach. Classical and Quantum Gravity 37(21), 215017 (2020). DOI 10.1088/1361-6382/abb637
- Kawamura, S., Ando, M., Seto, N., Sato, S., Musha, M., Kawano, I., Yokoyama, J., Tanaka, T., Ioka, K., Akutsu, T., Takashima, T., Agatsuma, K., Araya, A., Aritomi, N., Asada, H., Chiba, T., Eguchi, S., Enoki, M., Fujimoto, M.K., Fujita, R., Futamase, T., Harada, T., Hayama, K., Himemoto, Y., Hiramatsu, T., Hong, F.L., Hosokawa, M., Ichiki, K., Ikari, S., Ishihara, H., Ishikawa, T., Itoh, Y., Ito, T., Iwaguchi, S., Izumi, K., Kanda, N., Kanemura, S., Kawazoe, F., Kobayashi, S., Kohri, K., Kojima, Y., Kokeyama, K., Kotake, K., Kuroyanagi, S., Maeda, K.i., Matsushita, S., Michimura, Y., Morimoto, T., Mukohyama, S., Nagano, K., Nagano, S., Naito, T., Nakamura, K., Nakamura, T., Nakano, H., Nakao, K., Nakasuka, S., Nakayama, Y., Nakazawa, K., Nishizawa, A., Ohkawa, M., Oohara, K., Sago, N., Saijo, M., Sakagami, M., Sakai, S.i., Sato, T., Shibata, M., Shinkai, H., Shoda, A., Somiya, K., Sotani, H., Takahashi, R., Takahashi, H., Akiteru, T., Taniguchi, K., Taruya, A., Tsubono, K., Tsujikawa, S., Ueda, A., Ueda, K.i., Watanabe, I., Yagi, K., Yamada, R., Yokoyama, S., Yoo, C.M., Zhu, Z.H.: Current status of space gravitational wave antenna DECIGO and B-DECIGO. Progress of Theoretical and Experimental Physics **2021**(5) (2021). DOI 10.1093/ptep/ptab019. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/ptep/ptab019.05A105
- 151. Kesden, M., Gair, J., Kamionkowski, M.: Gravitational-wave signature of an inspiral into a supermassive horizonless object. Physical Review D 71(4) (2005). DOI 10.1103/physrevd. 71.044015. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.044015
- 152. Khlebnikov, S., Tkachev, I.: Relic gravitational waves produced after preheating. Physical Review D 56(2), 653–660 (1997). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.56.653. URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1103/PhysRevD.56.653
- 153. Khodnevych, V., Di Pace, S., Vinet, J.Y., Dinu-Jaeger, N., Lintz, M.: Study of the coherent perturbation of a Michelson interferometer due to the return from a scattering surface. In: International Conference on Space Optics — ICSO 2018, *Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series*, vol. 11180, p. 111807T (2019). DOI 10.1117/12.2536200
- 154. Klein, A., Barausse, E., Sesana, A., Petiteau, A., Berti, E., Babak, S., Gair, J., Aoudia, S., Hinder, I., Ohme, F., et al.: Science with the space-based interferometer elisa: Supermassive black hole binaries. Physical Review D 93(2) (2016). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.93.024003. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.93.024003

- 155. Kormendy, J., Ho, L.C.: Coevolution (Or Not) of Supermassive Black Holes and Host Galaxies. Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 51, 511–653 (2013). DOI 10.1146/ annurev-astro-082708-101811
- Korol, V., Rossi, E.M., Barausse, E.: A multimessenger study of the Milky Way's stellar disc and bulge with LISA, Gaia, and LSST. MNRAS483(4), 5518–5533 (2019). DOI 10.1093/mnras/sty3440
- 157. Kosowsky, A., Mack, A., Kahniashvili, T.: Gravitational radiation from cosmological turbulence. Physical Review D 66(2) (2002). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.66.024030. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.66.024030
- Kupfer, T., Korol, V., Shah, S., Nelemans, G., Marsh, T.R., Ramsay, G., Groot, P.J., Steeghs, D.T.H., Rossi, E.M.: LISA verification binaries with updated distances from Gaia Data Release 2. MNRAS480(1), 302–309 (2018). DOI 10.1093/mnras/sty1545
- Kyutoku, K., Seto, N.: Gravitational-wave cosmography with LISA and the Hubble tension. Phys. Rev. D95(8), 083525 (2017). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.95.083525
- Lamberts, A., Blunt, S., Littenberg, T.B., Garrison-Kimmel, S., Kupfer, T., Sanderson, R.E.: Predicting the LISA white dwarf binary population in the Milky Way with cosmological simulations. MNRAS490(4), 5888–5903 (2019). DOI 10.1093/mnras/stz2834
- 161. Levin, Y.: Starbursts near supermassive black holes: young stars in the Galactic Centre, and gravitational waves in LISA band. MNRAS374(2), 515–524 (2007). DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2006.11155.x
- 162. Li, C., Lovelace, G.: Generalization of ryan's theorem: Probing tidal coupling with gravitational waves from nearly circular, nearly equatorial, extreme-mass-ratio inspirals. Phys. Rev. D 77, 064022 (2008). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.77.064022. URL https://link.aps. org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.77.064022
- 163. Li, G., Yi, Z., Heinzel, G., Rüdiger, A., Jennrich, O., Wang, L., Xia, Y., Zeng, F., Zhao, H.: Methods for Orbit Optimization for the LISA Gravitational Wave Observatory. International Journal of Modern Physics D 17(7), 1021–1042 (2008). DOI 10.1142/S021827180801267X
- 164. Liebling, S.L., Palenzuela, C.: Dynamical Boson Stars. Living Rev. Rel. 15, 6 (2012). DOI 10.12942/lrr-2012-6,10.1007/s41114-017-0007-y. [Living Rev. Rel.20,no.1,5(2017)]
- 165. LISA Science Study Team: LISA Science Requirements Document, ESA-L3-EST-SCI-RS-001. Tech. Rep. 1.0, ESA (2018). https://www.cosmos.esa.int/web/lisa/ lisa-documents/
- Littenberg, T.B., Larson, S.L., Nelemans, G., Cornish, N.J.: Prospects for observing ultracompact binaries with space-based gravitational wave interferometers and optical telescopes. MNRAS429(3), 2361–2365 (2013). DOI 10.1093/mnras/sts507
- Luo, J., et al.: TianQin: a space-borne gravitational wave detector. Class. Quant. Grav. 33(3), 035010 (2016). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/33/3/035010
- MacLeod, C.L., Hogan, C.J.: Precision of Hubble constant derived using black hole binary absolute distances and statistical redshift information. Phys. Rev. D77, 043512 (2008). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.77.043512
- 169. Maguire, K., Eracleous, M., Jonker, P.G., MacLeod, M., Rosswog, S.: Tidal disruptions of white dwarfs: Theoretical models and observational prospects. Space Science Reviews 216(3) (2020). DOI 10.1007/s11214-020-00661-2. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1007/s11214-020-00661-2
- 170. Marsh, T.R.: Double white dwarfs and lisa. Classical and Quantum Gravity 28(9), 094019 (2011). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/28/9/094019. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/ 0264-9381/28/9/094019
- 171. Maselli, A., Pani, P., Gualtieri, L., Berti, E.: Parametrized ringdown spin expansion coefficients: A data-analysis framework for black-hole spectroscopy with multiple events. Physical Review D 101(2) (2020). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.101.024043. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101.024043
- 172. Matsuoka, Y., et al.: Subaru High-z Exploration of Low-Luminosity Quasars (SHELLQs).
 II. Discovery of 32 Quasars and Luminous Galaxies at 5.7 < z < 6.8. Publ. Astron. Soc. Jap. 70(SP1), S35 (2018). DOI 10.1093/pasj/psx046

70

- Mavalvala, N., Sigg, D., Shoemaker, D.: Experimental Test of an Alignment-Sensing Scheme for a Gravitational-Wave Interferometer. Applied Optics 37(33), 7743–7746 (1998). DOI 10.1364/AO.37.007743
- 174. McGee, S., Sesana, A., Vecchio, A.: Linking gravitational waves and X-ray phenomena with joint LISA and Athena observations. Nature Astronomy 4, 26–31 (2020). DOI 10.1038/ s41550-019-0969-7
- 175. McManus, R., Berti, E., Macedo, C.F., Kimura, M., Maselli, A., Cardoso, V.: Parametrized black hole quasinormal ringdown. ii. coupled equations and quadratic corrections for nonrotating black holes. Physical Review D 100(4) (2019). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.100.044061. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.100.044061
- McWilliams, S.T.: Geostationary Antenna for Disturbance-Free Laser Interferometry (GAD-FLI). arXiv e-prints arXiv:1111.3708 (2011)
- 177. Miller, M.C., Davies, M.B.: An Upper Limit to the Velocity Dispersion of Relaxed Stellar Systems without Massive Black Holes. ApJ755(1), 81 (2012). DOI 10.1088/0004-637X/ 755/1/81
- Miller, M.C., Freitag, M., Hamilton, D.P., Lauburg, V.M.: Binary encounters with supermassive black holes: Zero-eccentricity lisa events. The Astrophysical Journal 631(2), L117–L120 (2005). DOI 10.1086/497335. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/497335
- Mirshekari, S., Yunes, N., Will, C.M.: Constraining Generic Lorentz Violation and the Speed of the Graviton with Gravitational Waves. Phys. Rev. D85, 024041 (2012). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.85.024041
- Mitryk, S.J., Mueller, G., Sanjuan, J.: Hardware-based demonstration of time-delay interferometry and TDI-ranging with spacecraft motion effects. Phys. Rev. D 86(12), 122006 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.122006
- Moore, C.J., Gerosa, D., Klein, A.: Are stellar-mass black-hole binaries too quiet for LISA? MNRAS488(1), L94–L98 (2019). DOI 10.1093/mnrasl/slz104
- 182. Muñoz, D.J., Miranda, R., Lai, D.: Hydrodynamics of Circumbinary Accretion: Angular Momentum Transfer and Binary Orbital Evolution. ApJ871(1), 84 (2019). DOI 10.3847/ 1538-4357/aaf867
- 183. Nagano, K., Fujita, T., Michimura, Y., Obata, I.: Axion Dark Matter Search with Interferometric Gravitational Wave Detectors. Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**(11), 111301 (2019). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.111301
- Nelemans, G., Portegies Zwart, S.F., Verbunt, F., Yungelson, L.R.: Population synthesis for double white dwarfs. II. Semi-detached systems: AM CVn stars. A&A368, 939–949 (2001). DOI 10.1051/0004-6361:20010049
- 185. Nishizawa, A., Berti, E., Klein, A., Sesana, A.: elisa eccentricity measurements as tracers of binary black hole formation. Phys. Rev. D 94, 064020 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.94. 064020. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.064020
- 186. Nishizawa, A., Sesana, A., Berti, E., Klein, A.: Constraining stellar binary black hole formation scenarios with eLISA eccentricity measurements. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 465(4), 4375–4380 (2016). DOI 10.1093/mnras/stw2993. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/mnras/stw2993
- 187. Nissanke, S., Vallisneri, M., Nelemans, G., Prince, T.A.: Gravitational-wave emission from compact galactic binaries. The Astrophysical Journal 758(2), 131 (2012). DOI 10.1088/ 0004-637x/758/2/131. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0004-637X/758/2/ 131
- 188. Perkins, S.E., Yunes, N., Berti, E.: Probing fundamental physics with gravitational waves: The next generation (2020)
- 189. Peters, P.C.: Gravitational radiation and the motion of two point masses. Phys. Rev. 136, B1224–B1232 (1964). DOI 10.1103/PhysRev.136.B1224. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.136.B1224
- 190. Petiteau, A., Babak, S., Sesana, A.: Constraining the dark energy equation of state using LISA observations of spinning Massive Black Hole binaries. Astrophys. J. **732**, 82 (2011). DOI 10.1088/0004-637X/732/2/82

- 191. Petiteau, A., Shang, Y., Babak, S., Feroz, F.: Search for spinning black hole binaries in mock LISA data using a genetic algorithm. Phys. Rev. D 81(10), 104016 (2010). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.81.104016
- 192. Prince, T.A., Tinto, M., Larson, S.L., Armstrong, J.W.: LISA optimal sensitivity. Phys. Rev. D 66(12), 122002 (2002). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.66.122002
- 193. Randall, L., Servant, G.: Gravitational waves from warped spacetime. Journal of High Energy Physics 2007(05), 054–054 (2007). DOI 10.1088/1126-6708/2007/05/054. URL https: //doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2007/05/054
- 194. Riess, A.G., Casertano, S., Yuan, W., Macri, L.M., Scolnic, D.: Large magellanic cloud cepheid standards provide a 1determination of the hubble constant and stronger evidence for physics beyond λcdm. The Astrophysical Journal 876(1), 85 (2019). DOI 10.3847/ 1538-4357/ab1422. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3847/1538-4357/ab1422
- 195. Riess, A.G., et al.: A 2.4% Determination of the Local Value of the Hubble Constant. Astrophys. J. 826(1), 56 (2016). DOI 10.3847/0004-637X/826/1/56. ArXiv:1604.01424
- 196. Ryan, F.D.: Accuracy of estimating the multipole moments of a massive body from the gravitational waves of a binary inspiral. Phys. Rev. D 56, 1845–1855 (1997). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.56.1845
- 197. S. Babak, M. Hewitson, A. Petiteau: LISA Sensitivity and SNR Calculations (LISA-LCST-SGS-TN-001_v1.0). Tech. rep., ESA, LISA Consortium (2021). https://atrium.in2p3.fr/cd8ad323-b20f-4afd-93e8-992f911f56bd
- 198. Sanjuán, J., Korytov, D., Mueller, G., Spannagel, R., Braxmaier, C., Preston, A., Livas, J.: Note: Silicon carbide telescope dimensional stability for space-based gravitational wave detectors. Review of Scientific Instruments 83(11), 116107-116107-3 (2012). DOI 10.1063/1.4767247
- Schutz, B.F.: Determining the Hubble Constant from Gravitational Wave Observations. Nature 323, 310–311 (1986). DOI 10.1038/323310a0
- Sedda, M.A., Berry, C.P.L., Jani, K., Amaro-Seoane, P., Auclair, P., Baird, J., Baker, T., Berti, E., Breivik, K., Burrows, A., et al.: The missing link in gravitational-wave astronomy: discoveries waiting in the decihertz range. Classical and Quantum Gravity 37(21), 215011 (2020). DOI 10.1088/1361-6382/abb5c1. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1088/1361-6382/abb5c1
- 201. Sesana, A.: Prospects for multiband gravitational-wave astronomy after gw150914. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 231102 (2016). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.231102. URL https:// link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.231102
- Sesana, A., Gair, J., Berti, E., Volonteri, M.: Reconstructing the massive black hole cosmic history through gravitational waves. Physical Review D 83(4) (2011). DOI 10. 1103/physrevd.83.044036. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.83.044036
- 203. Sesana, A., Korsakova, N., Sedda, M.A., Baibhav, V., Barausse, E., Barke, S., Berti, E., Bonetti, M., Capelo, P.R., Caprini, C., Garcia-Bellido, J., Haiman, Z., Jani, K., Jennrich, O., Johansson, P., Khan, F.M., Korol, V., Lamberts, A., Lupi, A., Mangiagli, A., Mayer, L., Nardini, G., Pacucci, F., Petiteau, A., Raccanelli, A., Rajendran, S., Regan, J., Shao, L., Spallicci, A., Tamanini, N., Volonteri, M., Warburton, N., Wong, K., Zumalacarregui, M.: Unveiling the gravitational universe at μ-hz frequencies (2019)
- 204. Sesana, A., Vecchio, A., Eracleous, M., Sigurdsson, S.: Observing white dwarfs orbiting massive black holes in the gravitational wave and electro-magnetic window. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society **391**(2), 718–726 (2008). DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2008. 13904.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2966.2008.13904.x
- 205. Shaddock, D., Ware, B., Halverson, P.G., Spero, R.E., Klipstein, B.: Overview of the LISA Phasemeter. In: S.M. Merkovitz, J.C. Livas (eds.) Laser Interferometer Space Antenna: 6th International LISA Symposium, *American Institute of Physics Conference Series*, vol. 873, pp. 654–660 (2006). DOI 10.1063/1.2405113
- 206. Shah, S., Nelemans, G.: Measuring Tides and Binary Parameters from Gravitational Wave Data and Eclipsing Timings of Detached White Dwarf Binaries. ApJ**791**(2), 76 (2014). DOI 10.1088/0004-637X/791/2/76

72
- Sigurdsson, S., Rees, M.J.: Capture of stellar mass compact objects by massive black holes in galactic cusps. MNRAS284(2), 318–326 (1997). DOI 10.1093/mnras/284.2.318
- Soares-Santos, M., et al.: First Measurement of the Hubble Constant from a Dark Standard Siren using the Dark Energy Survey Galaxies and the LIGO/Virgo Binary–Black-hole Merger GW170814. Astrophys. J. 876(1), L7 (2019). DOI 10.3847/2041-8213/ab14f1. ArXiv:1901.01540
- Spector, A., Mueller, G.: Back-reflection from a Cassegrain telescope for space-based interferometric gravitational-wave detectors. Classical and Quantum Gravity 29(20), 205005 (2012). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/29/20/205005
- Stroeer, A., Vecchio, A.: The LISA verification binaries. Classical and Quantum Gravity 23(19), S809–S817 (2006). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/23/19/S19
- 211. Tahura, S., Yagi, K.: Parameterized Post-Einsteinian Gravitational Waveforms in Various Modified Theories of Gravity. Phys. Rev. D98(8), 084042 (2018). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD. 98.084042
- 212. Tanabashi, M., et al.: Review of Particle Physics. Phys. Rev. **D98**(3), 030001 (2018). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.030001
- Taylor, S.R., Gair, J.R.: Cosmology with the lights off: standard sirens in the Einstein Telescope era. Phys. Rev. D86, 023502 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.86.023502
- 214. Taylor, S.R., Gair, J.R., Mandel, I.: Cosmology using advanced gravitational-wave detectors alone. Physical Review D 85(2) (2012). DOI 10.1103/physrevd.85.023535. URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.85.023535
- Tinto, M., Armstrong, J.W.: Cancellation of laser noise in an unequal-arm interferometer detector of gravitational radiation. Phys. Rev. D 59(10), 102003 (1999). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.59.102003
- Tinto, M., de Araujo, J.C.N., Aguiar, O.D., da Silva Alves, E.: A Geostationary Gravitational Wave Interferometer (GEOGRAWI). arXiv e-prints arXiv:1111.2576 (2011)
- 217. Tinto, M., Dhurandhar, S.V.: Time-delay interferometry. Living Reviews in Relativity 24(1), 1 (2021). DOI 10.1007/s41114-020-00029-6
- Tinto, M., da Silva Alves, M.E.: LISA Sensitivities to Gravitational Waves from Relativistic Metric Theories of Gravity. Phys. Rev. D82, 122003 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.82. 122003
- Toubiana, A., Sberna, L., Caputo, A., Cusin, G., Marsat, S., Jani, K., Babak, S., Barausse, E., Caprini, C., Pani, P., Sesana, A., Tamanini, N.: Detectable environmental effects in GW190521-like black-hole binaries with LISA. arXiv e-prints arXiv:2010.06056 (2020)
- Vallisneri, M.: Geometric time delay interferometry. Phys. Rev. D 72(4), 042003 (2005). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.72.042003
- 221. Vallisneri, M., Bayle, J.B., Babak, S., Petiteau, A.: TDI-infinity: time-delay interferometry without delays. arXiv e-prints arXiv:2008.12343 (2020)
- 222. Vallisneri, M., Data Challenge taskforce, M.L.: The Mock Lisa Data Challenges: Status, Achievements, And Prospects. In: AAS/High Energy Astrophysics Division #10, AAS/High Energy Astrophysics Division, vol. 10, p. 15.06 (2008)
- Vincent, M.A., Bender, P.L.: The orbital mechanics of a space-borne gravitational wave experiment. In: Astrodynamics 1987, p. 1346 (1988)
- 224. Volonteri, M., Natarajan, P.: Journey to the $m_{BH} \sigma$ relation: the fate of low-mass black holes in the universe. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society **400**(4), 1911–1918 (2009). DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2966.2009.15577.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2966.2009.15577.x
- 225. Wang, F., Yang, J., Fan, X., Hennawi, J.F., Barth, A.J., Banados, E., Bian, F., Boutsia, K., Connor, T., Davies, F.B., Decarli, R., Eilers, A.C., Farina, E.P., Green, R., Jiang, L., Li, J.T., Mazzucchelli, C., Nanni, R., Schindler, J.T., Venemans, B., Walter, F., Wu, X.B., Yue, M.: A Luminous Quasar at Redshift 7.642. ApJ907(1), L1 (2021). DOI 10.3847/2041-8213/abd8c6
- 226. Weiss, R. and Bender, P. L. and Misner, C. W. and Pound, R. V.: Report of the sub-panel on relativity and gravitation. Tech. rep., Management and Operations Working Group for Shuttle Astronomy, NASA, Washington, DC (1976). https://emvogil-3.mit.edu/ \$\sim\$weiss/documents/nasa1975.pdf

¹ Space-based Gravitational Wave Observatories

- 227. Westerweck, J., Nielsen, A., Fischer-Birnholtz, O., Cabero, M., Capano, C., Dent, T., Krishnan, B., Meadors, G., Nitz, A.H.: Low significance of evidence for black hole echoes in gravitational wave data. Phys. Rev. **D97**(12), 124037 (2018). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.124037
- Will, C.M.: Bounding the mass of the graviton using gravitational wave observations of inspiralling compact binaries. Phys. Rev. D57, 2061–2068 (1998). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD. 57.2061
- 229. Witten, E.: Cosmic separation of phases. Phys. Rev. D 30, 272–285 (1984). DOI 10.1103/ PhysRevD.30.272. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD. 30.272
- Yagi, K., Stein, L.C.: Black hole based tests of general relativity. Classical and Quantum Gravity 33(5), 054001 (2016). DOI 10.1088/0264-9381/33/5/054001
- Yagi, K., Stein, L.C., Yunes, N., Tanaka, T.: Post-Newtonian, Quasi-Circular Binary Inspirals in Quadratic Modified Gravity. Phys. Rev. D85, 064022 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD. 93.029902,10.1103/PhysRevD.85.064022. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D93,no.2,029902(2016)]
- 232. Yagi, K., Tanahashi, N., Tanaka, T.: Probing the size of extra dimension with gravitational wave astronomy. Phys. Rev. **D83**, 084036 (2011). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.83.084036
- Yagi, K., Tanaka, T.: Constraining alternative theories of gravity by gravitational waves from precessing eccentric compact binaries with LISA. Phys. Rev. D81, 064008 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.109902, 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.064008. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D81,109902(2010)]
- 234. Yagi, K., Yunes, N., Tanaka, T.: Gravitational Waves from Quasi-Circular Black Hole Binaries in Dynamical Chern-Simons Gravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 251105 (2012). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.169902,10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.251105,10.1103/ PhysRevLett.124.029901. [erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.116,no.16,169902(2016)]
- Yunes, N., Coleman Miller, M., Thornburg, J.: Effect of massive perturbers on extreme massratio inspiral waveforms. Phys. Rev. D 83, 044030 (2011). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.83. 044030. URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.83.044030
- 236. Yunes, N., Pretorius, F.: Fundamental theoretical bias in gravitational wave astrophysics and the parametrized post-einsteinian framework. Physical Review D 80(12) (2009). DOI 10. 1103/physrevd.80.122003. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.80. 122003
- 237. Yunes, N., Pretorius, F., Spergel, D.: Constraining the evolutionary history of Newton's constant with gravitational wave observations. Phys. Rev. D81, 064018 (2010). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.81.064018
- 238. Zhang, C., Zhao, X., Wang, A., Wang, B., Yagi, K., Yunes, N., Zhao, W., Zhu, T.: Gravitational waves from the quasicircular inspiral of compact binaries in Einstein-aether theory. Phys. Rev. D101(4), 044002 (2020). DOI 10.1103/PhysRevD.101.044002